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 Per 25(c), I certify that I am an employee of Wilson Elser Moskowitz 

Edelman & Dicker LLP, and that on October 8, 2021, Appendix to Irving 

Torremoro & Keolis Transit Services, LLC’s Petition for Writ of Mandamus 

was served via electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing 

system to:  

Stephen G. Clough, Esq. 
Maier Gutierrez & Associates 
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Attorneys for Lamont Compton 

Judge Erika Ballou 
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 

  
BY: /s/ Michael P. Lowry 
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Telephone: 702.629.7900 
Facsimile: 702.629.7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com   
 sgc@mgalaw.com   
  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
LAMONT COMPTON, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC; a foreign 
limited liability company; UNKNOWN 
DRIVER, an individual; DOES I through X; and 
ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:   
Dept. No.:   
 
COMPLAINT 
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
 
Arbitration Exemption: 

1. Damages in Excess of $50,000 
 

 
Plaintiff LAMONT COMPTON, by and through his attorneys of record, the law firm MAIER 

GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES, hereby demands a trial by jury and complains and alleges against 

defendants as follows: 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

1. Plaintiff LAMONT COMPTON (“Plaintiff”) is, and at all times pertinent hereto was, 

a resident of Clark County, Nevada. 

2. Upon information and belief, defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC is, and 

at all times pertinent hereto was, a foreign limited liability company licensed to do business in Clark 

County, Nevada. 

3. Upon information and belief, defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER is, and at all times 

A-18-777320-C
Department 23

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

Electronically Filed
7/6/2018 4:57 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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pertinent hereto was, a resident of Clark County, Nevada. 

4. Upon information and belief, defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER is, and at all times 

pertinent hereto was an employee and/or agent of defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC. 

5. Upon information and belief, defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC is 

responsible for the actions of all employees, agents, ostensible agents, and/or representative of 

defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC, inclluding UNKNOWN DRIVER. 

6. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate, partnership or 

otherwise, of the defendants herein designated as DOES I through X and ROE CORPORATIONS I 

through X, inclusive, are unknown to Plaintiff, who therefore sues said defendants by such fictitious 

names.  Plaintiff will seek leave of the Court to insert the true names and capacities of such defendants 

when the same have been ascertained and will further seek leave to join said defendants in these 

proceedings. 

7. Plaintiff was, at all times mentioned herein, the operator of a 2017 Lexus IS 200t. 

8. Defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER was, at all times mentioned herein, the operator of 

a bus, owned by defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC. 

9. On or about November 4, 2017, in Clark County, Nevada, Plaintiff was turning on to 

the on-ramp in order to enter the freeway. 

10. Defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER was approaching the same on-ramp from the 

opposite direction. 

11. Defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER failed to use due care on the roadway and attempted 

to enter the freeway at the same time as Plaintiff without yielding to Plaintiff, which caused an 

automobile collision that injured Plaintiff. 

12. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff sustained personal injuries, all or some of which conditions may be permanent and disabling, 

and all to Plaintiff’s damage in a sum in excess of $15,000.00. 

13. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff received medical and other treatment for the aforementioned injuries, and that said services, 

care, and treatment is continuing and shall continue in the future, all to the damage of Plaintiff. 
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14. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff has been required to, and has limited occupational and recreational activities, which have 

caused and shall continue to cause Plaintiff loss of earning capacity, lost wages, physical impairment, 

mental anguish, and loss of enjoyment of life, in a presently unascertainable amount. 

15. As a direct and proximate result of the aforementioned negligence of defendants, and 

each of them, Plaintiff has been required to engage the services of an attorney, incurring attorney’s 

fees and costs to bring this action. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(NEGLIGENCE) 

16. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the allegations of the preceding paragraphs of the 

complaint as though fully set forth herein, and incorporate the same herein by reference. 

17. Defendants, and each of them, owed a duty of care to Plaintiff to operate a vehicle in 

a reasonable and safe manner. 

18. Defendants, and each of them, breached that duty of care by striking Plaintiff’s vehicle 

on the roadway.  

19. The acts of defendants, and each of them, as described herein, violated the traffic laws 

of Clark County and the state of Nevada, which also constitutes negligence per se, and Plaintiff has 

been damaged as a direct and proximate result thereof in an amount in excess of $15,000.00. 

20. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff sustained personal injuries, all or some of which conditions may be permanent and disabling, 

and all to Plaintiff’s damage in a sum in excess of $15,000.00. 

21. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff received medical and other treatment for the aforementioned injuries, and that said services, 

care, and treatment is continuing and shall continue in the future, all to the damage of Plaintiff. 

22. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff has been required to, and has limited occupational and recreational activities, which have 

caused and shall continue to cause Plaintiff loss of earning capacity, lost wages, physical impairment, 

mental anguish, and loss of enjoyment of life, in a presently unascertainable amount. 
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23. As a direct and proximate result of the aforementioned negligence of defendants, and 

each of them, Plaintiff has been required to engage the services of an attorney, incurring attorney’s 

fees and costs to bring this action. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(RESPONDENT SUPERIOR) 

24. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the allegations of the preceding paragraphs of the 

complaint as though fully set forth herein, and incorporate the same herein by reference. 

25. Plaintiff herein alleges that defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER was an employee and/or 

agent and/or representative of defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC and was within the 

course and scope of his employment with defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC wherein 

defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC benefited financially due to the 

services/actions/conduct of defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER. 

26. At said times and places, defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER conducted himself in a 

negligent manner resulting in injuries to Plaintiff.  Alternatively, defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER’s 

conduct fell below the standard of care resulting in injuries to Plaintiff. 

27. Defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER was an employee and/or agent and/or representative 

of defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC.  Defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, 

LLC is responsible for defendant KNOWN DRIVER’s conduct and/or actions and/or inactions. 

28. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff sustained personal injuries, all or some of which conditions may be permanent and disabling, 

and all to Plaintiff’s damage in a sum in excess of $15,000.00. 

29. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff received medical and other treatment for the aforementioned injuries, and that said services, 

care, and treatment is continuing and shall continue in the future, all to the damage of Plaintiff. 

30. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of defendants, and each of them, 

Plaintiff has been required to, and has limited occupational and recreational activities, which have 

caused and shall continue to cause Plaintiff loss of earning capacity, lost wages, physical impairment, 

mental anguish, and loss of enjoyment of life, in a presently unascertainable amount. 
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31. As a direct and proximate result of the aforementioned negligence of defendants, and 

each of them, Plaintiff has been required to engage the services of an attorney, incurring attorney’s 

fees and costs to bring this action. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(NEGLIGENT HIRING, TRAINING AND/OR SUPERVISION) 

32. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges the allegations of the preceding paragraphs of the 

complaint as though fully set forth herein, and incorporate the same herein by reference. 

33. Plaintiff alleges that defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC either did 

directly or indirectly hire defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER to be an employee and/or agent and/or 

their representative in Las Vegas, Nevada. 

34. That at said time and place of the subject of this lawsuit as laid out in this Complaint, 

defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER failed to use due care on the roadway and caused an automobile 

collision that injured Plaintiff. 

35. The acts and/or conduct and/or inactions by defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER reveal 

that defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC should not have hired defendant UNKNOWN 

DRIVER because of his incompetence, ineptitude, lack of skill, lack of training, and/or dangerous 

propensities, or that defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC did not properly train, monitor 

and/or supervise defendant UNKNOWN DRIVER. 

36. As a direct and proximate result of defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC’s 

actions, Plaintiff sustained personal injuries, all or some of which conditions may be permanent and 

disabling, and all to Plaintiff’s damage in a sum in excess of $15,000.00. 

37. As a direct and proximate result of defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC’s 

actions, Plaintiff received medical and other treatment for the aforementioned injuries, and said 

services, care, and treatment is continuing and shall continue in the future, all to the damage of 

Plaintiff. 

38. As a direct and proximate result of defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC’s 

actions, Plaintiff sustained injuries and has limited occupational and recreational activities, which 

have caused and shall continue to cause Plaintiff loss of earning capacity, lost wages, physical 
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impairment, mental anguish, and loss of enjoyment of life, in an amount in excess of $15,000.00. 

39. As a direct and proximate result of defendant KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC’s 

actions, Plaintiff has been required to engage the services of an attorney, incurring attorney’s fees and 

costs to bring this action. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against defendants, and each of them, as follows: 

1. For a judgment in favor of Plaintiff and against defendants, and each of them, on the 

complaint and all claims for relief asserted therein; 

2. For an award of general and special damages in an amount in excess of $15,000.00, to 

be proven at trial; 

3. For an award of reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred in this action; and 

4. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem proper. 

 DATED this 6th day of July, 2018. 

 Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES  

 
__/s/ Stephen G. Clough_________________ 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 
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DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

  

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a Stipulation and Order Extending Discovery Deadlines 

and Continuing Trial Date was entered by the Court on November 6, 2019.  A true and correct copy 

is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

DATED this 6th day of November, 2019. WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ 

 EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 
 
  /s/ Robert L. Thompson    

 MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 10666 
 ROBERT THOMPSON, ESQ. 
 Nevada Bar No. 9920 
 300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101-6014 
 Attorneys for Keolis Transit Services, LLC 
 
 

 
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com  
ROBERT THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9920 
E-mail: Robert.Thompson@wilsonelser.com  
WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 
300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101-6014 
Tel: 702.727.1400/Fax: 702.727.1401 
Attorneys for Keolis Transit Services, LLC 
 

LAMONT COMPTON, an individual, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC, a 
foreign limited liability company; UNKNOWN 
DRIVER, an individual; DOES I through X; 
and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive,  
 

Defendants. 
 

Case No:   A-18-777320-C 
Dept. No:  23 
 
Notice of Entry of Order re Stipulation and 
Order Extending Discovery Deadlines and 
Continuing Trial Date  

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

Electronically Filed
11/6/2019 11:38 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ 

EDELMAN & DICKER LLP, and that on this 6th day of November, 2019, I served a true and correct 

copy of Notice of Entry of Order re Stipulation and Order Extending Discovery Deadlines and 

Continuing Trial Date as follows: 

 by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed 
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada;  

 
 via electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system, upon each 

party in this case who is registered as an electronic case filing user with the Clerk; and 
pursuant to Rule 9 of the N.E.F.C.R. 

 
Joseph A. Gutierrez, Esq. 
Stephen G. Clough, Esq. 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
jag@mgalaw.com 
sgc@mgalaw.com 

 
 

/s/ Cynthia Kelley      ______ 
An Employee of  
WILSON, ELSER, MOSKOWITZ, EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 

 EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 
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MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com
ROBERT L. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9920 
E-mail: Robert.Thompson@wilsonelser.com
300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101-6014 
Tel: 702.727.1400/Fax: 702.727.1401 
Attorneys for Keolis Transit Services, LLC 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

LAMONT COMPTON, an individual, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC, a foreign 
limited liability company; UNKNOWN DRIVER, an 
individual; DOES I through X; and ROE 
CORPORATIONS I through X, inclusive,  

Defendants. 

Case No.: A-18-777320-C  
Dept. No.: 23 

Keolis Transit Services, LLC’s 
Opposition to Motion in Limine 11 

Dr. Gross is the subject of pending litigation.  That narrow fact is irrelevant.  However 

evidence of Dr. Gross’ actions that has come to light through that litigation is independently 

admissible.  While Keolis might not be able to discuss the fact that Dr. Gross has been criminally 

indicted, Keolis can discuss the otherwise admissible evidence that litigation has generated. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

Electronically Filed
3/24/2020 9:29 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Dated this 24th day of March, 2020 

/s/ Michael P. Lowry  
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
ROBERT L. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9920 
300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101-6014 
Attorneys for Keolis Transit Services, LLC

Memorandum of Points & Authorities 

I. Dr. Gross’ own words are admissible against him. 

Plaintiff has a problem.  He wants Dr. Gross to testify for him at trial, but does not want 

Dr. Gross to bring his baggage.  A published federal decision summarizes the type of baggage 

that Dr. Gross has. 

Defendant is alleged to have received kickbacks in exchange for referrals of 
patients needing spinal surgeries and other (usually invasive) procedures. The 
Indictment alleges Defendant is associated with kickbacks totaling $622,936. The 
payments were allegedly disguised as payments pursuant to bogus contracts 
entered into for the purposes of disguising and concealing the kickback payments. 
The charges against Defendant involve kickbacks related to surgeries billed to 
personal injury attorneys rather than insurers, as Defendant performed surgeries 
contingent on a recovery through personal injury cases.1

As part of its investigation, the government obtained a recorded conversations between 

Dr. Gross and his co-conspirators.  In one of those, he discussed giving false testimony during 

depositions.  The government’s motion to admit that evidence was granted.  “Defendant’s 

professed willingness to provide false testimony in unrelated expert depositions regarding the 

kickback payments is probative as to his understanding that the payments made to him were 

unlawful.”2  Dr. Gross also discussed his profit motive for handling these cases.  He prefers “the 

‘orgy’ of personal injury lien recovery to the ‘anal sex without lubricant’ of workers’ 

1 United States v. Gross, 370 F. Supp. 3d 1139, 1143 (C.D. Cal. 2019). 
2 Exhibit 1 at 14:12-15. 
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compensation billing and eventual payment.”3  Dr. Gross’ opposition did not deny he spoke these 

words, only that they were inadmissible against him. 

a. Dr. Gross’s actions are not collateral to this case. 

“Impeachment by use of extrinsic evidence is prohibited when collateral to the 

proceedings. Collateral facts are by nature outside the controversy, or are not directly connected 

with the principal matter or issue in dispute.”4  There are limits to this exclusion.  For instance, 

extrinsic evidence relevant to a witness’s perception, memory, communication, ability to 

understand the oath to testify truthfully, felony convictions, and reputation evidence are not 

collateral.5  Similarly, “extrinsic evidence relevant to prove a witness’s motive to testify in a 

certain way, i.e., bias, interest, corruption or prejudice, is never collateral to the controversy and 

not subject to the limitations contained in NRS 50.085(3).”6

Dr. Gross himself has aptly described his motives to testify in certain ways and his 

willingness to do so even if under oath.  Simply put, his actions corrupted the medical system for 

his own benefit.  He put his own profits above his medical judgment and patient’s well-being.  

Further, in this case Dr. Gross is expressly projecting the cost of Plaintiff’s future medical care.  

Lying about the costs of certain treatments and getting a kickback for it is what got him in 

criminally charged.  Coincidentally, Dr. Gross has provided his services to Plaintiff in this case 

on a lien with his lawyers, just as in his criminal matter.7

This evidence is material to Dr. Gross’ credibility and admissible for cross-examination 

purposes. 

b. If collateral, Dr. Gross’ actions go to truthfulness. 

Even if a collateral issue, Dr. Gross’ actions are still admissible against him. “However, 

use of specific instances of conduct-i.e., an untruthful act not resulting in a conviction-and use of 

prior inconsistent statements, raise issues under the so-called collateral-fact rule when coupled 

3 Id. at 15:10-12. 
4 Lobato v. State, 120 Nev. 512, 518, 96 P.3d 765, 770 (2004). 
5 Id. 
6 Id. at 519, 96 P.3d at 770. 
7 Exhibit 2. 
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with a specific contradiction.”8  For instance, in a murder trial a witness testified that she loved 

being pregnant.  The defense then sought to impeach that statement by questioning her about a 

prior abortion.  “Impeachment on a collateral matter is not allowed.”9  The district court was 

correct to bar the questioning because “whether or not Stach once had an abortion is collateral to 

the issue of who killed Damian.”10

Applied here, Dr. Gross himself stated his willingness to lie under oath in deposition if 

needed.  That unquestionably relates to his propensity for truthfulness. 

c. The evidence is not unfairly prejudicial. 

NRS 50.085(3) states extrinsic evidence “if relevant to truthfulness, be inquired into on 

cross-examination of the witness …, subject to the general limitations upon relevant evidence 

and the limitations upon interrogation….”  Presumably Plaintiff will argue the probative value of 

Dr. Gross’ own statements is unfairly prejudicial.  The mere fact that the evidence may be 

adverse to Plaintiff is insufficient to exclude it.  “‘[U]nfair prejudice’ … is not to be equated with 

testimony simply adverse to the opposing party. Virtually all evidence is prejudicial or it isn’t 

material. The prejudice must be ‘unfair.’”11

Applied here, Plaintiff intends to present Dr. Gross to testify at least 1) as to the 

reasonableness of the medical billing in this case; and 2) the cost of the future care Dr. Gross 

recommends.  Dr. Gross’ preference for the orgy of profits from personal injury cases and his 

own willingness to lie about the costs of medical treatment is highly probative as to the weight a 

jury should give his testimony on the same topic.  The evidence is prejudicial to Dr. Gross, but 

not unfairly so especially when his own words are being used against him. 

Plaintiff notes one prior district court granted a motion in 2016 concerning some other 

litigation involving Dr. Gross.  District judges are not bound by their own orders in a prior case, 

let alone the orders of another judge in another case.  Regardless, that order was filed in 2016, 

8 Id. 
9 Collman v. State, 116 Nev. 687, 703, 7 P.3d 426, 436 (2000). 
10 Id. 
11 Dollar v. Long Mfg., N. C., Inc., 561 F.2d 613, 618 (5th Cir. 1977). 
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before Dr. Gross was indicted and before his statements admitting a willingness to lie were 

revealed. 

II. If Dr. Gross testifies, his own words may be used against him.

Keolis does not object to excluding the narrow fact that Dr. Gross has been criminally 

charged.  However, excluding the fact of the charge does not exclude the otherwise admissible 

evidence disclosed in that case concerning Dr. Gross’ willingness to lie for money and to protect 

his personal injury orgy.  Dr. Gross cannot escape his own words. 

Dated this 24th day of March, 2020 

/s/ Michael P. Lowry  
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
ROBERT L. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9920 
300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101-6014 
Attorneys for Keolis Transit Services, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

Pursuant to NRCP 5, I certify that I am an employee of Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman 

& Dicker LLP, and that on March 24, 2020, I served Keolis Transit Services, LLC’s Opposition 

to Motion in Limine 11 as follows: 

 by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed 
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada; 

 via electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system, upon 
each party in this case who is registered as an electronic case filing user with the 
Clerk;  

Stephen G. Clough, Esq. 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Lamont Compton 

BY:  /s/ Michael Lowry 
An Employee of  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff,  

 

v. 

JEFFREY DAVID GROSS 

Defendant. 

Case No.  8:18-CR-00014 JLS 
 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART 
MOTION TO CONTINUE (DOC. 93) 
 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART 
GOVERNMENT MOTION IN 
LIMINE NO. 1 (DOC. 75) 
 
ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND 
RESERVING RULING IN PART AS 
TO GOVERNMENT MOTION IN 
LIMINE NO. 2 (DOC. 76) 
 
ORDER GRANTING 
GOVERNMENT MOTION IN 
LIMINE NO. 3 (DOC. 77) 
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 This matter is before the Court on three Motions in Limine filed by the 

Government and on Defendant’s Motion to Continue Trial.  These matters are fully 

briefed and were heard on November 15, 2019.  The Court permitted Defendant to file 

supplemental materials related to a showing of diligence.  Those materials were filed 

in camera by Defendant on November 22, 2019, and include Defendant’s Further 

Submission in Support of Motion to Continue Trial, and the Large, Indeglia, 

Mermelstein and Arendsen Declarations.  The Court has reviewed these materials.    

 As set forth herein, the Court GRANTS IN PART Defendant’s Motion to 

Continue, GRANTS IN PART the Government’s Motion in Limine No. 1, GRANTS 

IN PART and reserves ruling in part as to the Government’s Motion in Limine No. 2, 

and GRANTS the Government’s Motion in Limine No. 3.   

I. Background 

 Defendant is a neurosurgeon who was indicted as part of the Drobot/Pacific 

Hospital kickback conspiracy/fraud scheme.  (See generally Doc. 1, Indictment.)  The 

scheme alleged in the Indictment, Defendant’s alleged role in it, and the charges 

against Defendant are known to the Court and the parties, and they are summarized in 

the Court’s Order Denying Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss.  See United States v. 

Gross, 370 F.Supp.3d 1139, 1143 (C.D. Cal. 2019). 

II. Defendant’s Motion for Continuance 

 Defendant moves to continue the trial, currently set for February 25, 2020.   He 

does so based on the volume of discovery, mostly electronically stored information 

(“ESI”), produced by the Government.  As has been the Government’s practice in a 

number of cases related to the present one, the Government has produced its entire 

file.  In total, the parties estimate that over 6 million pages of documents and 1,600 

audio recordings have been produced to Defendant.  (See Doc. 96; Opp. at 3-4.)  The 

vast majority (over 80%) of the documents and the audio recordings were produced to 
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Defendant no later than November 23, 2018, over one year ago.  (Id. at 6.)  A 

comparatively small amount of discovery was produced in hard copy.1  

 In determining whether to grant Defendant’s Motion to Continue, the Court 

must consider four factors: (1) the defendant’s “diligence in his efforts to ready his 

defense prior to the [trial] date”; (2) the usefulness of the continuance; (3) the extent 

to which granting the continuance inconveniences the court, the government, and its 

witnesses; and (4) prejudice to the defendant as a result of the failure to grant a 

continuance.  United States v. Flynt, 756 F.2d 1352, 1358-59 (9th Cir.), amended, 764 

F.2d 675 (9th Cir. 1985).  The weight attributed to any one factor may vary.  Id. 

(citation omitted).  “[T]he focus of [the] prejudice inquiry is the ‘extent to which the 

aggrieved party’s right to present his defense [may be] affected.’”  United States v. 

Kloehn, 620 F.3d 1122, 1128 (9th Cir. 2010) (internal quotation marks and citation 

omitted).   

 The Court considers each factor. 

 A.  Diligence 

 The defense team contends they have been diligently preparing for trial, but 

they have been hampered by the volume of data (most of which is irrelevant to the 

case against Defendant) and the many errors in data formatting.  (Mot. at 6.)  Below, 

the Court discusses these two considerations before turning to Defendant’s 

supplemental filing. 

  1. Volume of Discovery 

 In this case, the Government has, by any standard, produced a massive amount 

of discovery.  Therefore, any discussion of diligence must begin with the underlying 

premise, evident to all parties and to the Court, that a review of the discovery 

                                           
1 In August 2018, the Government advised defense counsel that it would make available in hard 
copy 27 boxes of IRS documents related to William Parker, and approximately 100 boxes of FBI 
documents related Paul Randall.  (See Doc. 96, Opp. at Ex. E.)  Without further identifying them, the 
defense states the Government has made available 200 boxes of hard copy documents.  (See Doc. 
100, Reply at 12.)  In its supplemental materials, the defense states that it manually reviewed 200 
boxes of documents.  (Indeglia Decl. ¶ 9.) 
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produced does not require counsel to manually review 6 million pages of documents.  

To be sure, “unaided by technology,” counsel simply cannot review multiple 

“gigabytes or . . . terabytes of data.”  Sean Broderick et al., Fed. Judicial Ctr., 

Criminal e-Discovery: A Pocket Guide for Judges 14 (2015) (hereinafter “Criminal e-

Discovery”).  Therefore, a variety of electronic searches are generally used both to 

identify relevant documents and to identify irrelevant and duplicate documents, which 

can then be culled from the data to be reviewed.  (See Doc. 100, Reply at 4 (referring 

to “a variety of search strategies, including word searches, document searches, date 

searches, sender/recipient searches, concept searches, predictive coding searches, and 

negative searches”); Large Decl. ¶ 3 (stating that the declarant is experienced in 

“processing incoming productions and searching for relevant documents and culling 

nonresponsive documents”), id. ¶ 22 (stating that the declarant “remov[ed] swaths of 

non-relevant files by conducting searches that would return non-pertinent documents 

so that they could be culled”).) 

 The Government’s “open file” production of ESI is not unusual.  Many courts 

have considered open file productions or policies in the context of the prosecutor’s 

duty to produce exculpatory evidence under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).  

Two Circuits have upheld an “open file” production in the face of challenge by the 

accused that such a voluminous production without specific identification of 

exculpatory evidence by the prosecution violates Brady.  For instance, the Fifth 

Circuit, considering a production that far exceeded the present one, concluded that the 

government’s duty to disclose generally does not include a “duty to direct a defendant 

to exculpatory evidence within a larger mass of disclosed evidence.”  United States v. 

Skilling, 554 F.3d 529, 576 (5th Cir. 2009) (considering “the government’s open file, 

which consisted of several hundred million pages of documents”), rev’d in part on 

other grounds by Skilling v. United States, 561 U.S. 358 (2010).  The Sixth Circuit 

held similarly.  See United States v. Warshak, 631 F.3d 266, 297-98 (6th Cir. 2010) 

(rejecting argument that “the government shrugged off its obligations under Brady by 
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simply handing over millions of pages of evidence and forcing the defense to find any 

exculpatory information contained therein”). 

 Both Skilling and Warshak were quick to point out that the prosecution’s mere 

production of an open file consisting of millions of pages does not necessarily always 

meet its Brady obligations.  In Skilling, the Court noted that the prosecution may not, 

consistent with Brady, simply “drop . . . million[s of] pages on [a defendant’s] 

doorstep.”  Skilling, 554 F.3d at 577.  In Skilling, the court viewed favorably the facts 

that the open file production was “electronic and searchable,” was accompanied by 

indices, and was accompanied by a “hot documents” file that identified documents the 

prosecution viewed as particularly relevant to the defense.  Id.  The Skilling court also 

discussed a number of actions in which the prosecution may not engage:  Consistent 

with Brady, the prosecution may not deliberately conceal exculpatory material in the 

voluminous material, it may not “pad” its file with pointless information to increase 

the defendant’s burden of reviewing the production, and it may not otherwise act in 

bad faith in carrying out its duties.  Id.  The Warshak court applied Skilling and also 

examined whether the government’s open file production raised any of these concerns.  

Warshak, 631 F.3d at 297-98; see also United States v. Rubin/Chambers, Dunhill Ins. 

Servs., 825 F. Supp. 2d 451, 455 (S.D.N.Y. 2011) (“The cases in this area tend to 

draw the same distinction: Absent prosecutorial misconduct—bad faith or deliberate 

efforts to knowingly hide Brady material—the Government’s, use of ‘open file’ 

disclosures, even when the material disclosed is voluminous, does not run afoul of 

Brady.”). 

 Here, there is no suggestion that the Government has engaged in any of the 

types of activities that might taint its admittedly voluminous production.  Moreover, 

the Government’s production was accompanied by indices identifying the documents 

by Bates-ranges (see Opp. Exs. A & F-H) and describing the audio recordings (see 

Opp. Exs. A & K-L.)  Moreover, in June 2018, the Government produced two binders 

of material to Defendant, thus gathering and identifying its “key documents [expected 
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to] make up the core of the government’s case-in-chief at trial, including contracts, 

email messages, spreadsheets, highlights of covert recordings, summaries of 

payments, and key cooperating witness statements regarding defendant.”  (Opp. at 4.)  

On this record, there is nothing intrinsically unsettling about the voluminous 

production by the Government.   

 Thus, in terms of the volume of the evidence, the key considerations are:  

(1) the production consists almost exclusively of ESI, the vast majority of which—

over 80% of the document production and all of the covert recordings in the 

investigatory file— was produced more than one year ago; (2) the ESI production has 

been supplemented by indices; and (3) the Government produced (seventeen months 

ago) its “key documents” regarding its case-in-chief.  

 2. Technical Issues 

 Defendant also points to technical problems with the ESI produced by the 

Government.  ESI productions will almost always require some processing by the 

recipient before the data can be analyzed:  “ESI generally takes one of two possible 

forms: preprocessed (raw) or postprocessed.  Some raw ESI is not ready to be 

reviewed electronically; it must be processed into a digital file that can be loaded into 

document-review software.”  Criminal e-Discovery at 12 (footnote omitted).  The 

need for raw data to be “processed” 2 is not unusual, but it “is expensive and time-

consuming.”  Id. at 8.  Although the quality of ESI productions may vary, “[e]ven if 

the discovery is produced in an optimal way, defense counsel may still need expert 

assistance, such as litigation support personnel, paralegals, or database vendors, to 

convert e-discovery into a format they can use . . . and to decide what processing, 

software, and expertise is needed to assess the ESI.”  Id. at 12 (footnote omitted). 

 As of the date of the hearing on this Motion, defense counsel had previously 

contacted the Government to attempt to resolve technical difficulties with the ESI 

                                           
2 “The term ‘processing’ usually involves formatting ESI so that the native file can be placed into a 
review platform where it can be viewed, culled, organized, searched, and analyzed.” Id. at 8 n.20. 
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production only twice since receiving the first production over seventeen months 

earlier.  (See Opp. at 15; Large Decl. ¶¶ 16-17, 20-21 & 27-29.)  Both times, the 

defense encountered difficulties because the hard drive lacked sufficient free space to 

operate efficiently.  This difficulty occurred because the Government included space-

hogging encryption software along with the ESI.  However, the parties have since 

made arrangements that obviates the need to include the encryption software on the 

drive.  (See Opp. at 5 n.3, cf. Large Decl. ¶¶ 16-17 & 27 (referring to “overstuffed” 

hard drives).)  Thus, in each instance where the defense alerted the Government to 

technical difficulties, those difficulties were resolved cooperatively and with the 

Government’s assistance.   

 To the extent the defense has encountered other technical difficulties that it has 

not addressed with the Government,3 it cannot be heard to complain.  The 

Supplemental Large Declaration (provided in camera) outlines “the steps [he] would 

immediately take in order to get the defense team on track for trial.”  (Supp’l Large 

Decl. ¶ 37.)  Thereafter, he provides a three-and-one-half-page list of those steps.  (Id. 

¶¶ 37(a)-(h).)  This list merely underscores the existing lack of diligence in addressing 

the claimed technical deficiencies of the Government’s production.4  Moreover, 

although the requirement that the Government act in good faith means that it cannot 

take steps to make its ESI production more unwieldy, to the extent that the 

Government produces ESI from third parties in the same format it was received,5 its 

duty of production is discharged.     

 3. Defendant’s Supplemental Materials 

 At the hearing on this matter, the Court authorized Defendant to file, in camera, 

supplemental materials related to a showing of diligence.  Those materials were filed 

on November 22, 2019, and the Court has reviewed them.  To be sure, counsel have 
                                           
3 (See, e.g., Reply at 3-4 (identifying ten categories of ESI produced by the Government that the 
defense contends are “not searchable”).) 
4 Beyond the general parameters expressed in this Order, the Court expresses no opinion regarding 
the appropriateness of counsel’s list of steps. 
5 (See Opp. at 15 (“The government has the same production as defendant.”).) 
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spent hundreds of hours preparing a defense, but it is unclear how much of that time 

has been spent related to review of the Government’s production.   

 By far the most time working on the Government’s ESI production has been by 

William F. Large, who reports he has expended 436.9 hours.6  Although Attorney 

Large is not counsel of record in this case, he serves as a specialized expert in ESI 

management.  His time in this case has been devoted exclusively to dealing with the 

Government’s production, but it still appears that comparatively little time has been 

spent on actual review of the documents.  (See Supp’l Large Decl. ¶ 34, (noting that 

249.9 hours of 436.9 hours has been spent “processing, repairing and conducting 

quality control procedures” regarding the Government’s ESI or preparing the ESI for 

searching rather than actual review of the ESI, while another 140 hours has been spent 

“sampling, culling, reviewing and [searching]” the ESI).)  Counsel of record Mark 

Mermelstein and Mona Samir Amer have “spent a combined total of over 1,100 

hours” on the defense, but no more than approximately ten per cent of that time has 

been spent reviewing discovery.  (See Mermelstein Decl. ¶ 3.)  Counsel of record 

Hamilton Arendsen, who has not maintained detailed billing records, states that he has 

“spent hundreds of hours working on this case,” but his description of that work 

includes only the briefest of passing references to any review of discovery.  (See 

Arendsen Decl. ¶ 4 (including the phrase “reviewing and analyzing discovery and 

conferring with co-counsel and other team members regarding problems with 

searching discovery and related issues” with seven other phrases describing how he 

has spent an estimated “hundreds of hours working on this case”).)   

 To some extent, the fact that relatively little time has been spent reviewing the 

discovery could be explained by a desire to first process the data into its most usable 

form before analyzing it.  However, that raises the same question as to why the 

defense has only twice over the course of seventeen months sought the Government’s 

                                           
6 The Court finds that the information summarized in this paragraph does not require in camera 
treatment. 
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assistance in resolving technical issues.  On this point, criticism of the quality of the 

Government’s ESI does not in itself demonstrate diligence—it merely underscores the 

need for diligence.  In sum, while the defense has made a showing that document 

review in this case is an enormous task, it has not shown diligence in undertaking that 

task to date. 

 Therefore, he Court finds the defense has not shown diligence in preparing for 

trial in this matter.   

 B. Usefulness 

 The defense has likewise done little to show that a continuance would serve its 

purported purpose.  Defendant contends that “[a] trial continuance in this case, if 

granted, would serve an essential and not just useful purpose—allowing Dr. Gross and 

his counsel to attempt a thorough review of the Government’s voluminous discovery.”  

(Mot. at 6.)  The Supplemental Large Declaration states best how the defense could 

put to use additional time.  (See Supp’l Large Decl. ¶ 37(a)-(h).)  However, because 

this proposal was raised in an untimely manner, and set forth in an in camera filing, 

the Government has had no opportunity to respond to this portion of the Declaration.  

Moreover, this proposal does not set forth information that needed to be presented to 

the Court in camera; in fact, it is the very type of information that may have been 

helpful if discussed with the Government a year ago.  Therefore, the Court does not 

consider it.  As it stands, the majority of the Government’s production was completed 

a year ago, and Defendant has failed to show that the trial continuance it seeks would 

serve a useful purpose. 

 C. Inconvenience to Others 

 Defendant is incorrect in stating that there is little inconvenience to others.  (See 

Reply at 10 (“Third, the inconvenience to the Court and the parties is minimal. The 

current trial date is several months away, allowing the Court ample time to fill its 

calendar with other matters and giving the Government ample time to organize its 

witnesses.”).)  The Court has many cases set for trial in upcoming months, and those 
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trial dates are set well in advance.  It cannot easily move another trial to February, nor 

can it readily bump other trials set for later dates to make room for Defendant’s case.  

Nonetheless, the Court does not give significant weight to this factor; if the other 

factors warrant it, inconvenience to the Court’s calendar would not prevent a 

continuance.  

 D. Prejudice 

 Any discussion of prejudice must begin with the fact that there is still 

approximately three months before trial.  It should also begin with the 

acknowledgement that whether Defendant will be prejudiced by the denial of a 

continuance is the most important factor to consider.  See Flynt, 756 F.2d at 1359 

(“[I]n order to obtain a reversal, appellant must show at a minimum that he has 

suffered prejudice as a result of the denial of his request.”). 

 Defendant contends he will suffer prejudice in the form of “the inability to 

review the evidence the Government has produced to Dr. Gross in satisfaction of its 

discovery obligations.”  (Mot. at 7.)  The prejudice argument is unpersuasive in light 

of Defendant’s general lack of diligence in analyzing the production and, in particular, 

his failure to attempt to address the alleged data errors.  Thus, Defendant has not 

shown any likelihood of prejudice as a result of the denial of a continuance.   

 E. Ruling on Motion to Continue 

 Thus, a weighing of the Flynt factors do not warrant a trial continuance.  

Therefore, the Court DENIES the Motion to Continue Trial to September 8, 2020. 

 Nevertheless, the Court finds reason to grant a shorter continuance.  The Court 

has reviewed the in camera filing by the Government, and the Court notes, based 

thereon, that the Government anticipates producing additional documents.  Moreover, 

the Court has taken into account the point raised by the defense in its in camera filing.  

(See Def.’s Further Submission at 3:9-4:4 & 4:19-5:6 (in camera); Supp’l 

Mermelstein Decl. ¶¶ 10-11 (in camera).)  Combined, these facts suggest to the Court 

that a continuance of a shorter duration than that sought by the defense is appropriate.  
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Therefore, the Court CONTINUES the trial in this matter to June 9, 2020, at 9:00 

a.m.7 

III. Government’s Motion in Limine No. 1 

 In its first Motion in Limine, the Government moves to admit excerpts of seven 

covert audio recordings of conversations that included Defendant Gross.  Draft 

transcripts of the audio recordings were attached.  (Mot. Exs. A-O.)  Defendant 

opposes on three grounds:  First, the recordings are of poor quality and therefore 

unreliable and inadmissible; second, the recordings are impermissible Rule 404(b) 

“other acts” evidence; and finally, the recordings are excludable under Rule 403 as 

unfairly prejudicial.  (Doc. 82, Opp. at 2.)  Defendant also argues that he should be 

permitted to offer additional portions of the recordings to provide context to those 

portions offered by the Government.  (Id. at 3.) 

 A. Quality of Transcripts 

 Although the draft transcripts of the covert recordings are less than optimal, the 

Court has reviewed the updated version, consisting of the audio recordings themselves 

with a rolling transcript on video.  These were provided by the Government with the 

Reply.  The Court finds these recordings are of good quality.  There are, on occasion, 

overlapping conversations and unintelligible phrases, but the vast majority of the 

communications are easily heard and understood.  Therefore, the quality of the 

recordings is not an impediment to their admission.   

 B. Rule 404(b) Evidence 

 Defendant next challenges the statements as impermissible “other acts” 

evidence.  Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b)(1) makes inadmissible evidence of 

“crime[s], wrong[s], or other act[s]” to prove a person’s character where such 

evidence is offered to prove that, “on a particular occasion[, that] the person acted in 

accordance with [his] character.”  Id.  However, such “other acts” evidence is 

                                           
7 The Court does not believe a continuance of this length is warranted, but as noted above, the 
Court’s current trial calendar does not permit a continuance to an earlier date. 
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admissible to prove “motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, 

identity, the absence of mistake, or the lack of accident.”  Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)(2).  

Ninth Circuit case law applies a specific test regarding the admissibility of “other 

acts” evidence.  To establish that “other acts” are being offered for a permissible 

purpose under Rule 404(b), “it is the government’s responsibility to show that the 

evidence (1) proves a material element of the offense for which the defendant is now 

charged, (2) if admitted to prove intent, is similar to the offense charged, (3) is based 

on sufficient evidence, and (4) is not too remote in time.”  United States v. Ramirez-

Robles, 386 F.3d 1234, 1242 (9th Cir. 2004).     

 Defendant identifies three categories of statements:  1) that Dr. Gross sought to 

perform surgeries at other hospitals in exchange for some type of improper 

remuneration; 2) that Dr. Gross sought or was paid alleged kickbacks for prescribing 

medical creams and referring patients for epidural injections; and 3) that Dr. Gross 

professed a willingness to provide false testimony in depositions with regarding the 

nature of hospital fees.  (Opp. at 8-9.) 

 All three categories are probative of Defendant’s intent.  As to the first two, 

evidence that Defendant was involved or sought to be involved in similar kickback 

schemes—whether the kickback scheme involved surgical referrals to other hospitals, 

referrals for injections to any facility, or for writing prescriptions for a particular 

medicine—is probative on the issue of whether he had the requisite intent as to the 

charged scheme.  See United States v. Ricard, 922 F.3d 639, 653-54 (5th Cir. 2019) 

(finding no abuse of discretion in admitting evidence of similar, uncharged kickback 

scheme because evidence regarding the similar scheme was probative as to 

defendant’s intent regarding the charged kickback scheme).  The third category also 

implicates Defendant’s intent, as his professed willingness to provide false testimony 

in unrelated expert depositions regarding the kickback payments tends to show that he 

understood that those payments were unlawful.  (See Mot. at 8 n.5 (referencing 
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Defendant’s attempt at maintaining “plausible deniability” regarding the nature of the 

kickback payments).)   

 In applying the four-factor test described in Flynt, the first factor is met because 

the evidence tends to prove a material point.  The second factor is also met because 

the first two categories of evidence are similar to the offense charged, and because the 

third category of evidence is not only similar, it directly implicates a planned cover-up 

of the offense charged.  As to the third factor, the evidence is reliable, as it consists of 

Defendant’s own statements.  The fourth factor is met because the evidence is from 

the time period of the conspiracy charged in the Indictment.   

 Therefore, the Court concludes that the categories of evidence to which 

Defendant objects are permissible under Federal Rule of Evidence 404(b)(2). 

 C. Rule 403 Balancing 

 Generally, Defendant challenges all the recordings (except for Defendant’s 

specific statements regarding his contractual arrangements with Pacific Hospital) as 

inadmissible under Federal Rule of Evidence 403.  (See Opp. at 11.)  Rule 403 

provides: 

 The court may exclude relevant evidence if its 

probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of 

one or more of the following: unfair prejudice, confusing the 

issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or 

needlessly presenting cumulative evidence. 

Fed. R. Evid. 403.   

 Defendant challenges four categories of evidence.  First, Defendant challenges 

the admissibility of recordings about payment arrangement with other medical 

facilities, which the Government calls “Kickback Negotiation Evidence.”  (Opp. at 13-

14; see generally Doc. 89, Reply at 4-11.)  Second, Defendant challenges recordings 

regarding improper payments for referrals of patients who needed medical creams or 

epidural injections.  (Opp. at 13-14.)  Third, Defendant challenges recordings in which 
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he discussed giving false testimony during depositions.  (Opp. at 14.)  Finally, 

Defendant challenges the admissibility of the recording of a particularly crude sexual 

analogy he makes to explain why he prefers payment arrangements involving personal 

injury liens rather than workers’ compensation billing.  (Opp. at 13.)   

 The first three recordings do not require exclusion under Rule 403.  The starting 

point of the Rule 403 analysis is the probative value of the evidence sought to be 

excluded.  The Kickback Negotiation Evidence is probative on the issue of whether 

Defendant had the requisite intent as to the charged scheme.  (See Reply at 9 (“Indeed, 

the recordings provide contemporaneous evidence of defendant’s mental state at the 

time of the charged offenses, and is [sic] therefore tremendously probative of key 

issues at trial.”).)  The same is true as to the referrals for injections or for writing 

prescriptions for a particular medicine.  Moreover, Defendant’s professed willingness 

to provide false testimony in unrelated expert depositions regarding the kickback 

payments is probative as to his understanding that the payments made to him were 

unlawful.  Thus, these recordings are directly relevant to a material issue; indeed, the 

statements are particularly probative because they are statements made by Defendant 

regarding his state of mind, his knowledge, and/or his intent during the relevant time 

period. 

   If the starting point of the Rule 403 analysis is the probative value of the 

evidence sought to be excluded, the mid-point of that analysis is the nature of the 

balancing test that Rule 403 sets up.  Rule 403’s balancing test favors admission by 

requiring that the probative value of the evidence be “substantially outweighed” by the 

Rule 403 counterbalancing considerations: “unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, 

misleading the jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative 

evidence.”  The final part of the analysis is to apply this test.   

 Here, there is a danger of unfair prejudice in admitting evidence of the other 

kickback schemes.  The jury may be tempted to convict Defendant based on his 

actions that are not charged in this case.  Moreover, there is a danger that the jury may 
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be confused regarding what crimes are charged in this case.  This evidence, as well as 

Defendant’s statements regarding false testimony, could lead the jury to conclude 

“that the defendant is a bad man deserving of punishment.”  (Opp. at 14 (internal 

quotation marks and citation omitted).)  However, these are the types of risk that can 

be ameliorated by proper jury instructions.  Moreover, because Defendant’s intent, 

knowledge, and understanding are central to the charged offenses, the fact that much 

trial time may be devoted to that issue does not make the presentation of this evidence 

(or evidence presented by Defendant in response thereto) a waste of time.  Therefore, 

the first three recordings do not require exclusion under Rule 403.   

 The final recording requires exclusion.  The recording in which Defendant 

likens the “orgy” of personal injury lien recovery to the “anal sex without lubricant” 

of workers’ compensation billing and eventual payment is not probative of any 

material issue.  Instead, the recording establishes Defendant’s desire to focus his 

practice on personal injury cases rather than workers’ compensation cases and the 

reason behind this desire:  Because personal injury cases are much more financially 

lucrative; that is, personal injury cases are an “orgy” of profit.  The trouble with this 

analogy, apt as it may be, is that it is sexual in nature, it is unnecessarily crude, and it 

would likely be highly offensive to some (if not all) of the jurors if admitted; thus, it is 

highly inflammatory.  Given its lack of probative value,8 this evidence presents a 

wholly unnecessary distraction that carries with it a danger of unfair prejudice.  

Accordingly, the Government may not offer those portions of Exhibit C which include 

this reference. 

                                           
8 There is a possibility, however, that the probative nature of this evidence could increase if 
Defendant puts at issue the reason for Defendant’s focus on personal injury cases instead of workers’ 
compensation cases.  (See Mot. at 17-18.)  For instance, in Defendant’s Opposition to the 
Government’s Motion in Limine No. 2, he describes how he made referrals to personal-injury 
patients based on whether the hospital “accepted lien cases.”  (Doc. 83, Opp. to MIL No. 2 at 2.)  
Under such circumstances, Defendant’s profit-based preference for personal injury cases becomes 
more relevant, and the Rule 403 balance may shift in a manner that causes the Court to reconsider its 
initial ruling at trial. 
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 D. Rule of Completeness 

 Finally, Defendant notes that he would seek to introduce other portions of 

certain recordings pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 106.  (Opp. at 16-17.)  Rule 

106, the rule of completeness, provides: 

 If a party introduces all or part of a writing or recorded statement, 

an adverse party may require the introduction, at that time, of any other 

part—or any other writing or recorded statement—that in fairness ought 

to be considered at the same time. 

Fed. R. Evid. 106.  Defendant’s request lacks specificity, and therefore is not properly 

before the Court.   

 Moreover, Defendant misunderstands the scope of Rule 106.  He may not offer 

other portions of recordings to show that he had no intent to financially harm or 

physically harm his patients.  (See Opp. at 17.)  Such recordings are admissible only if 

the part of the recording identified by Defendant “in fairness ought to be considered at 

the same time” as the portion offered by the Government.  Fed. R. Evid. 106.  The 

issue of Defendant’s intent (or lack of intent) that his patients “suffer some detriment” 

such as “financial harm, physical harm, or some other negative consequence” is not an 

issue material to the charges against Defendant.  (Opp. at 17; see infra section IV.)  

The rule of completeness is therefore unlikely to implicate such portions of the 

recordings.   

 Issues regarding hearsay will be resolved at trial, if necessary.  (Compare Opp. 

at 17-18 (contending that Defendant’s statements offered to prove his then-existing 

state of mind would be admissible under Rule 803) with Reply at 12 (deferring 

response to Defendant’s argument in the absence of identification of portions of 

recordings to be offered by Defendant).)   

 The Court GRANTS IN PART AND DENIES IN PART the Government’s 

Motion in Limine No. 1.  With the exception of that portion of Exhibit C described 
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above, the Government may offer as evidence at trial the recordings that are the 

subject of its Motion in Limine No. 1. 

 IV. Government’s Motion in Limine No. 2 

 The Government moves to preclude evidence or argument that Defendant did 

not intend to harm his patients medically or financially, and that he instead intended 

only to help his patients obtain medically necessary and financially appropriate 

medical care.  (Mot. at 1-2.)  Specifically, the Government moves to preclude five 

categories of evidence: 

(1) defendant did not intend to harm his patients, medically or 

financially; (2) defendant did not cause actual patient harm, medically or 

financially; (3) defendant intended to help his patients, medically and 

financially; (4) defendant performed medically-necessary spinal surgeries 

and/or provided high quality surgeries; and (5) patients received surgeries 

at a reasonable or discounted cost. 

(Id. at 2.)  Defendant opposes, arguing that the evidence is relevant to his intent to 

defraud. 

 As the Court has already held, the intent element of honest services fraud does 

not require any intent to cause tangible harm and may instead be met by proof that 

Defendant referred his patient to Pacific Hospital, received a kickback pursuant to the 

charged conspiracy in exchange for that referral, and failed to disclose that kickback 

to the referred patient.  Gross, 370 F. Supp. 3d at 1146-49 (recognizing the “intangible 

rights” theory of fraud in private-sector honest services fraud).  Thus, certain evidence 

that the Government calls the “Good Doctor” evidence and the “Patient Harm” 

evidence (see Doc. 91, Reply at 1-2) are not relevant to the issue of intent.   

 Importantly, however, the Government concedes that Defendant may offer 

evidence relating to “(a) why he referred patients to Pacific Hospital; (b) whether he 

understood that his financial arrangements with Pacific Hospital and affiliates were 

intended to influence his referral of patients (i.e., constituted a kickback or bribe); 
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[and] (c) the materiality or importance of the financial arrangements to his patients.”  

(See Reply 2.)  Moreover, the Government concedes that because it intends to offer 

evidence that Defendant referred patients to Pacific Hospital in furtherance of a 

scheme to defraud, Defendant may then offer evidence that these referrals were made, 

not in furtherance of the scheme to defraud, but for other reasons.  (Reply at 7-8 n.4.) 

 With these parameters in mind, the Court GRANTS IN PART the 

Government’s Motion in Limine No. 2, and ORDERS that Defendant may not 

introduce evidence or argue that (1) he did not intend to harm his patients, medically 

or financially; and (2) that he did not cause actual patient harm, medically or 

financially.  Categories (3)-(5) may be admissible, not as to Defendant’s intent, but to 

counter the Government’s evidence that Defendant referred patients to Pacific 

Hospital in furtherance of the scheme to defraud.  (See Reply at 7-8 n.4.)  Therefore, 

the Court reserves ruling on Motion in Limine No. 2 as to evidence and argument 

(3) related to defendant’s intent to help his patients, medically and financially; 

(4) regarding the medical necessity and/or quality of the surgeries performed as a 

result of the referrals; and (5) whether the referred patients received surgeries at a 

reasonable or discounted cost.  

V. Government’s Motion in Limine No. 3 

 In its third Motion in Limine, the Government moves to admit testimony from 

cooperating medical professionals who entered into sham contracts that took the form 

of “a medical office sublease, an option agreement, and an Outsourced Collection 

Agreement.”  (Mot. at 1.)  In proving its case against Defendant, the Government 

intends to offer evidence that Defendant entered into sham contracts that took similar 

forms.  (See id. at 3-4 (describing evidence regarding an office sublease, option 

agreement and collection agreement).)  The Government expects that Pacific Hospital 

executives will testify that these contracts were used to disguise kickbacks made to 

medical providers, including Defendant.  (Id. at 5 & 10 (identifying Chief Financial 

Officer James Canedo as a witness).)  Therefore, the Government moves to admit the 
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testimony of three doctors that they entered into similar contracts with Pacific 

Hospital as a way to conceal kickback payments.  (Id. at 5-8 (identifying Dr. Jacob 

Tauber (who would testify as to an office sublease), Dr. Philip Sobol (who would 

testify as to an option contract), and Dr. Alan Ivar (who would testify as to a 

collection agreement).)  The Government contends that the cooperating doctors’ 

testimony is relevant to providing background to the charged conspiracy, to proving 

elements of the charged conspiracy, to corroborate the expected testimony of former 

Pacific Hospital CFO Canedo, and to establish that the contracts relating to Gross 

were not legitimate contacts.  (Id. at 8-12.)   

 Defendant contends the proffered testimony is not relevant because whether the 

cooperating doctors entered into sham contracts with Pacific Hospital has no bearing 

upon whether Defendant’s contracts were legitimate.  (Doc. 84, Opp. at 2-3.) 

Defendant focuses on the fact that the cooperating doctors cannot offer testimony 

regarding his intent in entering into his contracts with Pacific Hospital.  (Opp. at 3-4.)  

Relatedly, Defendants argues that the Government has charged “a rimless hub-and-

spoke conspiracy”; that is, Defendant argues that he and the cooperating doctors are 

actually charged with several separate conspiracies rather than a single overarching 

conspiracy.  (Opp. at 1 & 5-7.)  Even if relevant, Defendant contends the probative 

value of such evidence is substantially outweighed by considerations set forth in 

Federal Rule of Evidence 403:  unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, waste of 

time, and misleading to the jury.  (Opp. at 7-9.) 

 A. Relevance 

 Fundamentally, Defendant’s arguments regarding relevance understate the 

broad scope of the conspiracy charged in of Count One of the Indictment.  (See Doc. 

1, Indictment at 1-29.)  The Indictment alleges a broad conspiracy that implicates 

Defendant and many other medical providers.  (See Indictment ¶¶ 23, 24(a)-(c), (h)-(i) 

& (k).)  Specifically, the Indictment against Defendant Gross describes the manner 

and means of the conspiracy:  Defendants charged in related cases, together with 
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unindicted conspirators and Pacific Hospital, paid “kickbacks to defendant GROSS 

and other surgeons . . . in exchange for patient-related referrals . . . for spinal surgeries 

. . . that would be billed to health care benefit programs or subject to personal injury 

claims and/or liens.”  (Id. ¶ 24(a).)  The Indictment also charges that “[i]nfluenced by 

the promise of kickbacks, Pacific Hospital Kickback Recipients, including defendant 

GROSS, would cause patients . . . to have Kickback Tainted Surgeries at Pacific 

Hospital and Affiliated Entities.”  (Id. ¶ 24(b).)  More pointedly, here, the means and 

manner of the conspiracy also includes allegations that “[t]o conceal and disguise the 

kickback payments . . . Pacific Hospital . . . would enter into arrangements with 

Pacific Kickback Recipients, including defendant GROSS.”  (Id. ¶ 24(h).)  “[T]hese 

arrangements would be reduced to written contracts, including, . . . lease and rental 

agreements, option agreements, [and] collection agreements.”  (Id.)   “The written 

contracts would not specify that one purpose for the agreements would be to [induce 

referrals, or that] the compensation would be paid, entirely or in part . . . to cause 

Pacific Kickback Recipients to refer Kickback Tainted Surgeries . . . to Pacific 

Hospital.”  (Id. ¶ 24(i).)  Given the breadth of the conspiracy charge, the sham 

contracts entered into by the cooperating doctors are highly relevant to the conspiracy 

charge against Defendant Gross.  

 The Government represents that Pacific Hospital executives and the cooperating 

doctors will testify regarding the existence of a kickback scheme and the manner in 

which it was carried out.  It is expected that both the executives and the doctors will 

testify that they entered into written agreements that were meant to disguise the 

kickbacks as legitimate payments.  These written agreements are similar to those into 

which Defendant entered with Pacific Hospital. 

 “Evidence is relevant if . . . it has any tendency to make a fact more or less 

probable than it would be without the evidence; and . . . the fact is of consequence in 

determining the action.”  Fed. R. Evid. 401(a)-(b).  Certainly evidence that Pacific 

Hospital used written agreements to disguise kickback payments is relevant under this 
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definition.  The form these written agreements took are likewise relevant, especially if 

they are similar to those into which Defendant entered.  Defendant appears to concede 

the relevancy of these two points, at least to the extent it is introduced through the 

executives rather than the cooperating doctors.9  But the testimony of the cooperating 

doctors as to the true purpose of these agreements is also relevant.  As described, it 

corroborates the executives’ testimony, and such testimony is relevant under Rule 

401.  United States v. Hankey, 203 F.3d 1160, 1171 (9th Cir. 2000) (“Evidence 

helpful in evaluating the credibility of a witness is of consequence to the 

determination of the action.”). 

 Defendant relatedly contends that the broad conspiracy charged should be 

treated instead as multiple, narrower conspiracies because the charged conspiracy is “a 

rimless hub-and-spoke conspiracy.”  At the hearing, Defendant relied on two cases not 

cited in their Opposition:  Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750, 755 (1946) and 

United States v. Wassner, 141 F.R.D. 399 (S.D.N.Y. 1992).  Neither of these cases 

deal with the relevance or admissibility of co-conspirator testimony.     

 In Kotteakos, the Supreme Court reversed the convictions of certain defendants 

because the district court failed to instruct the jury regarding multiple conspiracies.  

The Court discussed how, in a joint trial, to be convicted of a single conspiracy rather 

than multiple conspiracies, the defendants must share something in common that 

connects them other than the hub of the wheel of which they are all spokes.  Id.  

Rather than just a single, central conspirator (the hub of the wheel) connecting all co-

conspirators, something else must join the co-conspirators at the outside (or rim) of 

the wheel.  Id.  Otherwise, in a joint trial, the trial court must instruct regarding 

multiple conspiracies.  Id. at 769-70.  In Kotteakos, the only connection between 

supposed conspirators was that they obtained loans through fraudulent means that 

passed through a common broker.  Id. at 754-55.  The Kotteakos Court found this 
                                           
9 (See Opp. at 5 (“[I]f the Government wishes to introduce evidence of PHLB’s agreements with 
other doctors, it can do so through the testimony of . . . executives who negotiated those agreements 
with those doctors . . . .”).)    
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connection insufficient to sustain the convictions of multiple defendant-borrowers 

tried jointly on a single conspiracy.  Id. at 755, 777.  The Court remanded with the 

caution that:   

Here, . . . extraordinary precaution is required, not only that instructions 

shall not mislead, but that they shall scrupulously safeguard each 

defendant individually, as far as possible, from loss of identity in the 

mass.  Indeed, the instructions often become [a defendant’s] principal 

protection against unwarranted imputation of guilt from others’ conduct.  

Id. at 776-77.   

 The court in Wassner applied Kotteakos.  141 F.R.D. at 405.  In Wassner, the 

defendants were charged with a conspiracy that involved two previously convicted co-

conspirators.  Id. at 400.  These co-conspirators perpetrated a broad scheme whereby 

they would generate false invoices that assisted many other individuals in committing 

tax fraud by artificially inflating the expenses of their businesses. Id. at 400-01.  The 

defendants were charged with purchasing such false invoices.  Id. at 404.  The co-

conspirators refused to testify against the defendant, and the government therefore 

sought to introduce evidence regarding the co-conspirators’ similar actions with other 

individuals.  Id. at 404.  The court noted the similarities between Kotteakos and the 

case before it, referring to the hub-and-spoke nature of the charged scheme before 

noting that the government’s proffered evidence would be “proof of [only] the other 

spokes in the wheel.”  Id. at 405.  Therefore, the court declined to decide relevance 

and instead held that such evidence, even if otherwise admissible, would be excluded 

pursuant to Federal Rule of Evidence 403, presumably as unfairly prejudicial.  See id. 

at 405. 

 Neither of these cases are on point.  The issue of separate conspiracies in 

Kotteakos arose only because the defendants were jointly tried, which is not the case 

here, and the issue arose only at the close of trial, not before or during the trial in 

connection with an evidentiary ruling.  And Wassner presented a unique situation 
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where testimony was unavailable due to the co-conspirators’ refusal to testify, causing 

the government to attempt to prove its case by relying exclusively on evidence of 

other “spokes” from the same “hub,” which was clearly highly prejudicial, suggesting 

guilt-by-association, and therefore excludable under Rule 403.  These cases do not 

convince the Court that the cooperating doctors’ testimony should be excluded as 

irrelevant in this case. 

 Thus, as argued by the Government, the cooperating doctors’ testimony is 

relevant to providing background to the charged conspiracy, to proving elements of 

the charged conspiracy, to corroborate the expected testimony of former Pacific 

Hospital CFO Canedo, and to establish that the contracts relating to Gross were not 

legitimate contacts. 

 B. Rule 403 Balancing 

 Defendant’s Rule 403 challenge is also unpersuasive.  Under Rule 403,  

 The court may exclude relevant evidence if its probative value is 

substantially outweighed by a danger of one or more of the following: 

unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the jury, undue delay, 

wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.  

Fed. R. Evid. 403.  The proffered testimony is highly relevant, and the balancing test 

requires that the Rule 403 issues “substantially outweigh[]” its probative value.  Most 

applicable here is the danger of unfair prejudice, which in this context is the danger 

that a jury will find “guilt by association.”  (See Opp. at 8.)  Relatedly, there is the 

consideration that a jury could be confused by the cooperating doctors’ conduct versus 

Defendant’s conduct.  (See id. at 8.)  None of these considerations substantially 

outweigh the probative value of the cooperating doctors’ testimony.  This is not a case 

where the Government seeks to rely solely on the guilt of others to prove its case 

against Defendant, thus differentiating this case from Wassner, where exclusion under 

Rule 403 was granted.  Proper instructions to the jury will guard against unfair 

prejudice and confusion of the issues. 
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 The Court GRANTS the Government’s Motion in Limine No. 3, and ORDERS 

that the Government may present testimony from Dr. Jacob Tauber regarding his 

medical office sublease, from Dr. Philip Sobol regarding his option agreement, and 

from Dr. Alan Ivar regarding his Outsourced Collection Agreement. 

VI. Conclusion 

 As set forth herein, the Court GRANTS IN PART Defendant’s Motion to 

Continue.  The trial is CONTINUED to June 9, 2020 at 9:00 a.m., and the pretrial 

status conference is CONTINUED to June 8, 2020 at 10:00 a.m.  Defendant is 

ORDERED to appear. 

 The Court GRANTS IN PART the Government’s Motion in Limine No. 1.  The 

Government may offer as evidence at trial the recordings that are the subject of its 

Motion in Limine No. 1 except that portion of Exhibit C described above.  The 

Motion is DENIED as to that portion of Exhibit C.   

 As set forth above, the Court GRANTS IN PART and reserves ruling in part as 

to the Government’s Motion in Limine No. 2. 

 The Court GRANTS the Government’s Motion in Limine No. 3.   

 IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 DATED:  December 20, 2019 

 
      _________________________________ 
      The Hon. Josephine L. Staton 
      United States District Judge 
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STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: (702) 629-7900 
Facsimile: (702) 629-7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com 
 sgc@mgalaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 

 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
LAMONT COMPTON, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC; a foreign 
limited liability company; IRVING 
TORREMORO, an individual; DOES I through 
X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:   A-18-777320-C 
Dept. No.:  XXIII  
 
PLAINTIFF’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF 
MOTION IN LIMINE NO. 11 TO 
EXCLUDE ANY TESTIMONY RELATED 
TO ANY PRIOR OR PENDING 
LITIGATION AGAINST DR. GROSS  
 
 
 

 
Plaintiff LAMONT COMPTON (“Plaintiff”), by and through his attorneys, the law firm 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES, hereby files this reply in support of motion in limine no. 11 to 

exclude any testimony related to any prior or pending litigation against Dr. Gross. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

Electronically Filed
7/21/2020 1:15 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This reply is made and based upon the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the 

affidavits and exhibits attached hereto, the papers and pleadings on file in this matter, and any oral 

argument this Court may allow at the hearing on this matter. 

DATED this 21st day of July, 2020. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
 
__/s/ Stephen G. Clough____________________ 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On November 4, 2017, Defendant Irving Torremoro (“Irving”) was the operator of a bus 

owned by Defendant Keolis Transit Services, LLC (“Keolis”, collectively “Defendants”).  Irving, 

while driving the Keolis bus, was approaching the same on-ramp as Lamont, but from the opposite 

direction.  As Lamont was turning on to the on-ramp in order to enter the freeway, Irving, while still 

driving the Keolis bus, failed to use due care on the roadway and attempted to turn at the same time 

as Irving.  Irving failed to yield to Lamont causing the automobile collision that injured Lamont and 

caused Lamont to seek medical care. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

a. DR. GROSS’ PENDING FEDERAL INDICTMENT FOR FRAUD IS UNRELATED TO THE 

INSTANT MATTER AS IT DOES NOT AFFECT HIS CREDIBILITY AS PLAINTIFF’S 

TREATING PHYSICIAN 

Dr. Gross’ unproven federal indictment has absolutely no relevance to his character in the 

instant matter.  “When the purpose of cross-examination is to expose bias, a trial court is not accorded 

the usual breadth of discretion in determining whether to entertain the questioning.” Jones v. State, 

108 Nev. 651, 659, 837 P.2d 1349, 1354 (1992).  In this scenario, “[c]ounsel must be permitted to 

elicit any facts which might color a witness's testimony. Id.   

Specific conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or supporting the witness’s 

credibility, other than a criminal conviction, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence. NRS 50.085(3).  

Similarly, “[i]mpeachment by use of extrinsic evidence is prohibited when collateral to the 

proceedings.” Lobato v. State, 120 Nev. 512, 518, 96 P.3d 765, 770 (2004).  While it is true that some 

issues are always permitted under the “collateral fact” rule, these exceptions only deal with the 

competency of a witness, the ability of a witness to understand the oath, prior convictions, and motives 

that might skew a witness’ ability to testify truthfully. Id. at 518-19.   

Here, as Defendant as stated, Dr. Gross is federally indicted for allegedly not disclosing the 

fact he is receiving kickbacks from a hospital.  This is not a formal conviction but an unproven claim 

made by in his case that has not been heard on the merits yet.   
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The federal indictment has no relation to the instant case because there is no claim or allegation 

that Dr. Gross is receiving kickbacks in this case for offering his service as a medical professional.  

The distinct widens further when considering that Dr. Gross is federally indicted for the allegation of 

not closing a pertinent fact rather than being untruthful.  Defendant argues that Dr. Gross is biased or 

not credible due to his federal indictment.  However, that goes against the entire notion of being 

“innocent until proven guilty.”  The unrelated federal case proves nothing because the case does not 

deal with his expertise in the area he is providing his opinion in the instant case and has not been 

decided on the merits.   

Dr. Gross is a properly disclosed and properly retained expert, his personal career is not on 

trial in the instant case.  Defendant should not be allowed to color the jury’s perception of Plaintiff’s 

expert based on an unrelated case that has no bearing on Dr. Gross’ competency or credibility. 

b. INQUIRIES INTO DR. GROSS’ FEDERAL INDICTMENT IS EXTREMELY PREJUDICIAL 

Inquiries into Dr. Gross’s federal indictment is extreme prejudicial and not at all relevant 

because Defendant is not claiming Dr. Gross forged his assessment of Plaintiff in this case.  NRS 

48.035 stated that “evidence is not admissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the 

danger of unfair prejudice, of confusion of the issues or of misleading the jury.”  Prejudice, as defined 

by the U.S. Supreme Court, is a state of mind “more frequently founded in passion than reason,” and 

it “may exist with or without cause.”  Rosales-Lopez v. United States, 451 U.S. 182, 197, 101 S. Ct. 

1629, 1639, 68 L. Ed. 2d 22 (1981). 

Here, Plaintiff does not imply that jury is incapable of thinking logically. Rather, Defendant 

is attempting to use Dr. Gross’ unrelated indictment to discredit his findings in this case. Defendant 

claims that Dr. Gross’ credibility is at issue because Defendant believe Dr. Gross’ findings are 

unreasonable.  However, Dr. Gross’s federal indictment is irrelevant when taken in conjunction with 

the reasonableness of his finding because one involves personal integrity while the other involves 

professional knowledge.  On the other hand, if this line of inquiry is allowed in trial, Defendant will 

color the jury’s perception of Dr. Gross to that untrustworthy individual in every aspect of life.  

Therefore, because Dr. Gross’ federal indictment is highly prejudicial and not at all relevant, this 

Court should grant Plaintiff’s motion. 
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c. PAST DISTRICT COURT ORDER IS HELPFUL IN GUIDING THE DECISION IN THE 

INSTANT MOTION 

This Court should rule on this motion similarly to the Court’s ruling on previous similar 

motions.  It is the most established principle of any court in the United State to follow the doctrine of 

stare decisis. Miller v. Burk, 124 Nev. 579, 597, 188 P.3d 1112, 1124 (2008).  Absent compelling 

reason for so doing, the court should uphold a previous decision in similar subsequent cases. Id.   

As stated in Ex. 1 of Plaintiff’s motion, Dr. Schifini was prohibited from testifying about any 

pending litigation against Dr. Gross.  Similarly, the Court’s decision on Dr. Gross’s pending litigation 

is reaffirmed in a later case in 2019.  See Order on Plaintiff Jeanette Miranda’s Pre-Trial Motions, 

attached as Ex. 1 to the original motion.  If one expert in a personal injury case was prohibited from 

mentioning the pending litigation of Dr. Gross in Bajrami v. Kurtz, it is only reasonable for all 

subsequent cases to follow except where there is a change in circumstances.  Therefore, this Court 

should follow past rulings on this issue and grant Plaintiff’s motion. 

d. DR. GROSS’ LEWD ANALOGY IS HIGHLY INFLAMMATORY AND NOT RELEVANT 

Dr. Gross’ statements within the context of his federal indictment is highly inflammatory and 

Defendant should not be permitted to introduce it into evidence. As this court is well aware, Dr. 

Gross’s statement in a prior case alludes his practice to an inappropriate and sexual conduct. 

Additionally, Dr. Gross’s statement is not definitive proof that Dr. Gross is willing to lie for money 

and to protect his practice.  This is still only an allegation and Dr. Gross’ statements are not conclusive 

proof of any alleged malfeasance.  Due to the controversial and offensive nature of Dr. Gross’s 

statement and the fact that his statement does not go directly to his credibility or bias, this Court should 

grant Plaintiff’s motion to exclude prior testimony by Dr. Gross. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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III. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff respectfully request that this court grant the instant 

motion in limine in its entirety.  

DATED this 21st day of July, 2020. 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
 
__/s/ Stephen G. Clough____________________ 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, a copy of the PLAINTIFF’S REPLY IN 

SUPPORT OF MOTION IN LIMINE NO. 11 TO EXCLUDE ANY TESTIMONY RELATED 

TO ANY PRIOR OR PENDING LITIGATION AGAINST DR. GROSS was electronically filed 

on the 21st day of July, 2020, and served through the Notice of Electronic Filing automatically 

generated by the Court's facilities to those parties listed on the Court's Master Service List, as 

follows: 

Michael P. Lowry, Esq. 
WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendants Keolis Transit Services, LLC  
and Irving Torremoro 

 
 

 
 

/s/ Natalie Vazquez 
An Employee of MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
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NEO 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: (702) 629-7900 
Facsimile: (702) 629-7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com  
 sgc@mgalaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
LAMONT COMPTON, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC; a foreign 
limited liability company; IRVING 
TORREMORO, an individual; DOES I through 
X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:   A-18-777320-C 
Dept. No.:  XXIII  
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 

 

TO: ALL PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD. 

YOU AND EACH OF YOU will please take notice that an ORDER ON PLAINTIFF’S  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

Electronically Filed
8/5/2020 10:45 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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PRE-TRIAL MOTIONS was hereby entered on the 5th day of August, 2020.  A copy of which is 

attached hereto. 

 DATED this 5th day of August, 2020. 

 Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
 
_/s/ Stephen G. Clough__________________ 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, a copy of the NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 

was electronically filed on the 5th day of August, 2020, and served through the Notice of Electronic 

Filing automatically generated by the Court's facilities to those parties listed on the Court's Master 

Service List as follows: 

Michael P. Lowry, Esq. 
WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendants Keolis Transit Services, LLC  
and Irving Torremoro 

 
 
 

  
 

 

 
 
 

/s/ Natalie Vazquez 
An Employee of MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
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ORDR 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: (702) 629-7900 
Facsimile: (702) 629-7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com  
 sgc@mgalaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 

 
 
 
 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
LAMONT COMPTON, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC; a foreign 
limited liability company; IRVING 
TORREMORO, an individual; DOES I through 
X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:   A-18-777320-C 
Dept. No.:  XXIII  
 
 
ORDER ON PLAINTIFF’S PRE-TRIAL 
MOTIONS 
 

 
 

This matter came on for hearing before the district court on July 28, 2020, at 10:00 a.m., on 

the following motions filed by plaintiff Lamont Compton (“Mr. Compton” or “Plaintiff”):  (1) 

Plaintiff’s MIL No. 1 to allow voir dire questioning about employment with or a financial interest in 

any insurance company; (2) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 2 to preclude any arguments, testimony, or references 

to Plaintiff’s counsel working with Plaintiff’s treating physicians; (3) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 3 to preclude 

any arguments, testimony, or references to medical liens; (4) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 4 to exclude 

argument that plaintiff had symptomatic conditions prior to collision; (5) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 5 to 

preclude hypothetical conditions not based in evidence; (6) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 6 to exclude plaintiff’s 

Electronically Filed
08/05/2020 8:07 AM

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
8/5/2020 8:07 AM
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prior unrelated accidents, injuries, or medical conditions and to strike reference to subsequent motor 

vehicle accident; (7) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 7 to exclude the testimony of Dr. Christopher Chen, Ph.D., 

P.E.; (8) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 8  to limit the testimony of Jeff Wang, M.D. to his area of specialty and 

those opinions in his report and exclude testimony regarding alleged injuries after to the subject 

collision; (9) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 9  to limit the testimony of David Fish, M.D. to his area of specialty 

and those opinions in his report; (10) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 10  to allow testimony and evidence of Dr. 

Wang’s prior credibility admonitions in legal proceedings; (11) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 11 to exclude any 

testimony related to any prior or pending litigation against Dr. Gross; (12) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 12 to 

exclude untimely disclosed documents and witnesses by defendant; (13) Plaintiff’s MIL No. 13 to 

exclude unrelated medical treatment and conditions; (14) Motion to allow parties to present a jury 

questionnaire prior to voir dire; and (15) Motion for spoliation of evidence based on losing video of 

crash. 

Stephen G. Clough, Esq. appeared on behalf of Mr. Compton.  Michael P. Lowry, Esq., 

appeared on behalf of defendants, Keolis Transit Services, LLC (“Keolis”), and Irving Torremoro 

(“Mr. Torremoro”) (collectively “Defendants”). 

The district court, having heard the representations of those present at the hearing, and for 

good cause appearing, makes the following rulings: 

1. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 1 to allow voir dire questioning about employment with or a 

financial interest in any insurance company is hereby GRANTED.  The parties are 

limited to general questions to the jury venire.  If additional questioning is required, 

the court may determine the questioning to be outside the presence of the remaining 

jury panel;  

2. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 2 to preclude any arguments, testimony, or references to Plaintiff’s 

counsel working with Plaintiff’s treating physicians is hereby GRANTED.  Neither 

party may raise this issue before the jury regarding counsel or their firm working with 

either side’s experts or treating physicians;  

3. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 3 to preclude any arguments, testimony, or references to medical 

liens is hereby DENIED.  The parties may question the witnesses regarding liens and 
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the language of the liens;  

4. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 4 to exclude argument that plaintiff had symptomatic conditions 

prior to collision is hereby GRANTED in part and DENIED in part.  The motion is 

DENIED in that the parties may not raise the issues regarding symptomatic conditions 

which did not involve the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in this matter, 

and GRANTED in that the parties may raise the issues regarding symptomatic 

conditions which did involve the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in this 

matter; 

5. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 5 to preclude hypothetical conditions not based in evidence is 

hereby GRANTED.  The parties may only ask hypothetical questions to experts and 

treating physicians which involve facts and issues involved in this matter; 

6. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 6 to exclude plaintiff’s prior unrelated accidents, injuries, or 

medical conditions and to strike reference to subsequent motor vehicle accident is 

hereby GRANTED in part and DENIED in part.  The motion is DENIED in that the 

parties may not raise the issues regarding the prior accidents, injuries or medical 

conditions which did not involve the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in 

this matter, and GRANTED in that the parties may raise the issues regarding prior 

accidents, injuries or medical conditions which did involve the injuries to the same 

body parts as are involved in this matter; 

7. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 7 to exclude the testimony of Dr. Christopher Chen, Ph.D., P.E. is 

hereby under advisement; 

8.  Plaintiff’s MIL No. 8  to limit the testimony of Jeff Wang, M.D. to his area of specialty 

and those opinions in his report and exclude testimony regarding alleged injuries after 

to the subject collision is hereby GRANTED in part and DENIED in part.  The motion 

is DENIED in that the questioning of Dr. Wang may not raise the issues regarding the 

prior accidents, injuries, medical conditions or symptomatic conditions which did not 

involve the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in this matter, and 

GRANTED in that the questioning of Dr. Wang may raise the issues regarding the 
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prior accidents, injuries, medical conditions or symptomatic conditions which did 

involve the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in this matter; 

9. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 9  to limit the testimony of David Fish, M.D. to his area of specialty 

and those opinions in his report is hereby GRANTED in part and DENIED in part.  

The motion is DENIED in that the questioning of Dr. Fish may not raise the issues 

regarding the prior accidents, injuries, medical conditions or symptomatic conditions 

which did not involve the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in this matter, 

and GRANTED in that the questioning of Dr. Fish may raise the issues regarding the 

prior accidents, injuries, medical conditions or symptomatic conditions which did 

involve the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in this matter; 

10. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 10  to allow testimony and evidence of Dr. Wang’s prior credibility 

admonitions in legal proceedings is hereby under advisement;  

11. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 11 to exclude any testimony related to any prior or pending 

litigation against Dr. Gross is hereby GRANTED, as the court concludes the evidence 

Defendants’ present is more prejudicial than probative.; 

12. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 12 to exclude untimely disclosed documents and witnesses by 

defendant is hereby GRANTED.  The parties may not introduce any evidence which 

has not been properly disclosed pursuant to NRCP 16.1 in this matter; 

13. Plaintiff’s MIL No. 13 to exclude unrelated medical treatment and conditions is hereby 

GRANTED in part and DENIED in part.  The motion is DENIED in that the parties 

may not raise issues regarding medical treatment and conditions which did not involve 

the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in this matter, and GRANTED in 

that the parties may raise issues regarding medical treatment and conditions which did 

involve the injuries to the same body parts as are involved in this matter;  

14. Motion to allow parties to present a jury questionnaire prior to voir dire is hereby 

GRANTED.  The parties are to meet to create upon a mutually agreeable jury 

questionnaire.  If the parties are unable to agree upon a jury questionnaire, the parties 

may raise the remaining issues to the court; 
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15. Motion for spoliation of evidence based on losing video of crash is hereby DENIED 

as the court does not conclude that additional video existed and was then lost 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this ____ day of ____________________, 2020. 

 
       _______________________________ 
       DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

 
 DATED this 31st day of July, 2020.       DATED this 31st day of July, 2020. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 

 Approved as to form and content: 

WILSON ELSER 

 
/s/ Stephen G. Clough 

  
/s/ Michael P. Lowry 

JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549  
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 
 

 MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
ROBERT L. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9920 
6689 Las Vegas Boulevard South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Defendants Keolis Transit 
Services, LLC and Irving Torremoro
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-18-777320-CLamont Compton, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Keolis Transit Services LLC, 
Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 23

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 8/5/2020

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

Michael Lowry michael.lowry@wilsonelser.com

Efile LasVegas efilelasvegas@wilsonelser.com

Kait Chavez kait.chavez@wilsonelser.com

Agnes Wong agnes.wong@wilsonelser.com

Robert Thompson robert.thompson@wilsonelser.com
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-18-777320-CLamont Compton, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Keolis Transit Services LLC, 
Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 24

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Motion was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 6/29/2021

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

Michael Lowry michael.lowry@wilsonelser.com

Efile LasVegas efilelasvegas@wilsonelser.com

Kait Chavez kait.chavez@wilsonelser.com

Amanda Hill amanda.hill@wilsonelser.com
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MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com  
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: 702.727.1400/Fax: 702.727.1401 
Attorneys for Irving Torremoro; Keolis Transit Services, LLC 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

Lamont Compton, an individual, 
 

  Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
Keolis Transit Services, LLC, LLC, a foreign limited 
liability company; Irving Torremoro, an individual; 
Does I through X; and Roe Corporations I through X, 
inclusive,  
 

Defendants. 

Case No.: A-18-777320-C  
Dept. No.: 24 

Defendants’ Opposition to Motion to 
Substitute Jeffrey Gross 

 
Plaintiff knew Dr. Gross had been indicted, but decided to take a risk that those charges 

would either be dismissed, still be pending when this case was tried, or would not result in a 

conviction.  Knowing that risk, Plaintiff still chose a litigation strategy that designated Dr. Gross 

as a retained expert.  The risk did not work out as Plaintiff hoped and Plaintiff now asks the court 

to bail him out, just two months before trial.  Plaintiff knew the risk, took the risk, and should not 

be allowed to escape the consequences of that risk. 

/// 

 

/// 

 

/// 

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

Electronically Filed
7/9/2021 1:50 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Dated this 9th day of July, 2021. 

 
 
/s/ Michael P. Lowry    
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Irving Torremoro; Keolis Transit 
Services, LLC 
 

 

Memorandum of Points & Authorities 

I. Dr. Gross’ federal indictment was public knowledge. 

A timeline of events helps put this motion into context. 

 November 3, 2017: The side-swipe motor vehicle accident at issue occurs. 

 January 23, 2018:  An indictment is filed, under seal, against Dr. Gross in the United 

States District Court for the Central District of California.1 

 May 18, 2018: The federal court enters an order unsealing the indictment.2 

 June 14, 2018: The United States Attorney for the Central District of California issues a 

press release publicizing the indictment.3 

 July 6, 2018: Lawsuit is filed. 

 July 23, 2018: Dr. Gross agrees to treat Plaintiff on a lien basis.4 

 August 12, 2018: Dr. Gross writes a neurosurgical consultation report.5 

 February 15, 2019: Dr. Gross projects the cost of future medical care.6 

 March 27, 2019: Dr. Gross writes supplemental report.  That same day the Central 

District of California publishes an order describing the charges against Dr. Gross.   

                                                 
1 Exhibit 3 to Motion at 3. 
2 Id. at 4. 
3 Exhibit A. 
4 Exhibit B. 
5 Exhibit 6 to Motion. 
6 Exhibit 7. 
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Defendant is alleged to have received kickbacks in exchange for referrals of 
patients needing spinal surgeries and other (usually invasive) procedures. The 
Indictment alleges Defendant is associated with kickbacks totaling $622,936. The 
payments were allegedly disguised as payments pursuant to bogus contracts 
entered into for the purposes of disguising and concealing the kickback payments. 
The charges against Defendant involve kickbacks related to surgeries billed to 
personal injury attorneys rather than insurers, as Defendant performed surgeries 
contingent on a recovery through personal injury cases.7 

 

 October 9, 2019: Plaintiff designates Dr. Gross as a retained medical expert in this case.8 

 November 6, 2019: Parties stipulate to extend discovery.9  Initial expert disclosures are 

due December 9, 2019.  Discovery will close on March 7, 2020. 

 March 6, 2020: Plaintiff files his motion in limine 11 expressly asking the court to 

exclude evidence of Dr. Gross’ pending federal indictment.  The motion notes “Dr. Gross 

is federally indicted for allegedly not disclosing the fact he is receiving kickbacks from a 

hospital.  This is not a formal conviction but an unproven claim made by in [sic] his case 

that has not been heard on the merits yet.”10 

 March 7, 2020: Discovery closes. 

 March 24, 2020: Defendants oppose motion in limine 11.  They agree that the fact Dr. 

Gross was indicted is inadmissible.  However, they argue the evidence obtained about Dr. 

Gross and his billing practices in that case is independently relevant and admissible. 

 July 16, 2020: Dr. Gross’ plea agreement is filed in the federal case.11  Although labeled 

as sealed, the seal was later lifted. 

 July 21, 2020: Plaintiff replies concerning motion in limine 11, asserting further 

arguments about how the federal indictment is not admissible. 

 August 5, 2020: Judge Miley enters an order granting motion in limine 11, concluding 

“the evidence Defendants present is more prejudicial than probative.”12 

                                                 
7 United States v. Gross, 370 F. Supp. 3d 1139, 1143 (C.D. Cal. 2019). 
8 Exhibit 5 to Motion. 
9 Order filed November 6, 2019. 
10 Motion at 6:21-23 (emphasis in original). 
11 Exhibit 1 to Motion. 
12 Order at 4:13-15. 
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 May 21, 2021: The United States Attorney for the Central District of California issues a 

press release publicizing Dr. Gross’ conviction.13 

 August 31, 2021: Scheduled date for calendar call in this case. 

 September 7, 2021: First day of the trial stack for this case.  As of this opposition, the 

case is 3rd in line for trial. 

II. Plaintiff made a strategic choice to hire Dr. Gross. 

Plaintiff asserts he “and his counsel had no knowledge of the status of the criminal case 

as it was under seal until in or about April, 2021.”14  Plaintiff then asserts he learned of the guilty 

plea on April 21, 2021 and the sentencing on May 24, 2021.15  Counsel’s affidavit asserts “[h]ad 

I known that Dr. Gross would plead guilty or be sentenced, I would not have retained or 

designated Dr. Gross as a witness in this case.”16 

Plaintiff’s argument is carefully drafted.  He implicitly concedes he was aware of the 

criminal case.  The indictment was a matter of public record, unsealed on May 21, 2018 and 

publicized by prosecutors on June 14, 2018.  Plaintiff was plainly aware of the pending charges 

against Dr. Gross because Plaintiff moved to exclude them in his motion in limine 11.  Instead, 

Plaintiff argues only that he did not know Dr. Gross would plead guilty or be sentenced to 

prison.  Yet that is a well known and obvious risk for anyone who has been criminally charged.   

a. Plaintiff has not presented excusable neglect or good cause.   

There is no provision in Nevada’s Rules of Civil Procedure that allows a party to 

substitute expert witnesses.  What Plaintiff is effectively asking the court to do is re-open 

discovery so that he can designate a new initial expert. 

i. There is no excusable neglect for Plaintiff’s late motion. 

EDCR 2.35(a) governs motions to extend discovery deadlines.  Motions must be “be filed 

no later than 21 days before the discovery cut-off date or any extension thereof. A request made 

                                                 
13 Exhibit C. 
14 Motion at 5:13-14. 
15 Motion at 5:11-13. 
16 Affidavit at ¶ 4. 
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beyond the period specified above shall not be granted unless the moving party, attorney or other 

person demonstrates that the failure to act was the result of excusable neglect.”   Applied here, 

Plaintiff wants to re-open discovery.  Discovery closed on March 7, 2020.  He filed this motion 

on June 29, 2021.  As the motion was filed after more than 15 months after discovery closed, 

Plaintiff must show the motion’s timing was the result of excusable neglect. 

The timing of Plaintiff’s motion is the result of a strategy, not neglect.  Dr. Gross’ 

indictment was a matter of public record as of May 21, 2018 and publicized by prosecutors on 

June 14, 2018.  Plaintiff’s motion is carefully drafted to avoid saying he did not know of the 

indictment, instead arguing only he did not know Dr. Gross would plead guilty.  Plaintiff chose 

to designate him as a retained expert, chose to have him project future medical costs, and chose 

to stick with him despite an indictment on kickback charges for medical billing practices.  

Plaintiff knew the risk of hiring Dr. Gross but accepted that risk.  Plaintiff filed this motion only 

after he learned the risk did not work out in his favor. That is a strategy, not neglect, and is not a 

basis to re-open discovery just two months before trial.  As no excusable neglect is present, the 

motion should simply be denied. 

This result is consistent with the result from Clark v. Gold Coast.  There the district court 

excluded the plaintiff’s liability expert, resulting in summary judgment.  The plaintiff then 

moved to re-open discovery and asserted excusable neglect was present because she could not 

have anticipated her expert witness would be excluded and she needed time to get a new one. 

The district court denied the motion and the Supreme Court agreed. “The concept of ‘excusable 

neglect’ does not apply to a party losing a fully briefed and argued motion; instead, the concept 

applies to instances where some external factor beyond a party’s control affects the party’s 

ability to act or respond as otherwise required.”17 

 

 

 

                                                 
17 62603, 2014 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1238, 2014 WL 3784262 (2014). 
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ii. There is no good cause to re-open discovery. 

If Plaintiff’s request is considered on its merits, it must be “supported by a showing of 

good cause for the extension….”18  The good cause requirement primarily considers the 

diligence of the party seeking the amendment.19  The extension may be granted if the deadline 

“cannot be met despite the diligence of the party seeking the extension. Carelessness is not 

compatible with a finding of diligence.”20  “Although the existence or degree of prejudice to the 

party opposing the modification might supply additional reasons to deny a motion, the focus of 

the inquiry is upon the moving party’s reasons for seeking modification.”21 

Diligence is not at issue.  Plaintiff diligently worked to designate Dr. Gross as an initial 

expert.  Instead, the court’s analysis focuses on the moving party’s reasons for the extension.  As 

discussed above, Plaintiff’s reason for the extension is that his litigation strategy to hire Dr. 

Gross as an expert witness has backfired.  Plaintiff knew of this risk at least three years ago, but 

accepted that risk.  Plaintiff should be stuck with the results. 

b. Plaintiff’s proposed designation of Dr. Leon is untimely. 

Plaintiff’s motion could alternatively be viewed as a request to deem a new designation 

of Dr. Leon timely.  As to expert witnesses, “[a] party must make these disclosures at the times 

and in the sequence that the court orders.”22  “If a party fails to provide information or identify a 

witness …, the party is not allowed to use that information or witness to supply evidence on a 

motion, at a hearing, or at a trial, unless the failure was substantially justified or is harmless.”23  

Federal courts interpreting their equivalent have ruled Rule 37(c)(1) gives teeth to discovery 

disclosure obligations.24  The Advisory Committee Notes to the 1980 Amendment to Rule 37 

stated it is an “automatic,” “self-executing sanction.”  When considering whether to excuse a 

                                                 
18 EDCR 2.35(a). 
19 Johnson v. Mammoth Recreations, Inc., 975 F.2d 604, 610 (9th Cir. 1992). 
20 Carrillo v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep’t, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 114781, 2013 WL 4432395 
(D. Nev. August 14, 2013). 
21 Johnson, 975 F.2d at 610. 
22 NRCP 16.1(a)(2)(E)(i). 
23 NRCP 37(C)(1). 
24 Yeti by Molly, Ltd. v. Deckers Outdoor Corp., 259 F.3d 1101, 1106 (9th Cir. 2001). 
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party’s non-compliance, “the burden is on the party facing sanctions to prove harmlessness.”25  

Applied here, it is Plaintiff’s burden to demonstrate harmlessness. 

Plaintiff wants to designate a late expert witness.  In Hansen v. Universal Health Servs., 

Inc. the plaintiff designated additional experts long after discovery closed.  The district court 

excluded them from trial and that decision was affirmed on appeal.  “[I]t appears that either the 

defendants would have been prejudiced or the trial date would have had to be continued once 

again to allow discovery if the new experts were to testify.”26  Staccato v. Valley Hosp. also 

addressed excluding several proposed expert witnesses who were named after the discovery 

deadline.  “[W]e perceive no abuse of discretion in the district court’s decision to exclude any 

untimely designated witnesses, and we decline to disturb that decision on appeal.”27 

While Hansen and Staccato did not concern substituting experts, the analysis should 

apply here and lead to the same result.  Again, Plaintiff knew there was a risk that Dr. Gross 

could pled guilty or be convicted after a trial on the charges he faced.  Plaintiff accepted that risk 

but it did not work out in his favor.  An unsuccessful litigation strategy is not substantial 

justification to re-open discovery when trial is just two months away. 

Further, Plaintiff has not met his burden to demonstrate harmlessness.  Discovery closed 

long ago.  Plaintiff’s motions in limine were heard and decided.  The parties are preparing for 

trial.  Part of the defense strategy was a contingency that Dr. Gross would be convicted because 

that would affect the case value.  Allowing Plaintiff to reshuffle the deck now, after deciding he 

dealt himself a losing hand, would materially and adversely affect Defendants’ own strategy. 

Plaintiff also has not demonstrated harmlessness because he has provided no information 

about his proposed substitute expert.  Plaintiff promises much of Dr. Leon’s opinions, but 

provides nothing from Dr. Leon binding himself to those promises.  Plaintiff does not provide a 

CV or fee schedule so Defendants can compare Dr. Leon’s qualifications and expenses to Dr. 

                                                 
25 Id. 
26 Hansen v. Universal Health Services of Nevada, Inc., 115 Nev. 24, 28-29, 974 P.2d 1158, 
1160-61 (1999). 
27 Staccato v. Valley Hosp., 123 Nev. 526, 529 n.2, 170 P.3d 503, 505 (2007). 
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Gross’.  Nor does Plaintiff provide a report from Dr. Leon that can be compared to Dr. Gross’ for 

scope and content.  It is Plaintiff’s burden to demonstrate harmlessness and he has not met it. 

c. The local federal court denied a similar motion. 

This topic has come up before in the local federal court too.  In Groves v. City of Reno 

the plaintiff designated as an expert witness a lawyer who had been suspended from practice, 

twice, while the case was pending.28  Discovery closed and 11 months later Plaintiff asked to 

substitute replace that expert with someone else. 

Groves approached the analysis much like Nevada’s state courts.  Groves noted the 

timing and sequence of expert disclosure is governed by the discovery scheduling order and Rule 

37(c) bars a party from using information at trial that was not timely or appropriately disclosed 

“unless the failure was substantially justified or is harmless.”  As the deadlines to disclose 

experts had expired long ago, Groves considered whether the motion to substitute was 

substantially justified or harmless.  The moving party has the burden to demonstrate justification 

or harmlessness.  Further, in the Ninth Circuit, “when an expert is not timely disclosed, there is a 

presumption the opposing party is harmed.”29 

Groves concluded the substitution was not harmless, “as demonstrated in the additional 

discovery expense the Defendant would incur, a possible alteration of Defendant’s strategies, and 

the disruption in the court’s calendar.” 

d. Plaintiff’s cases did not allow substitution due to a failed strategy. 

Plaintiff cites a variety of cases to support his position, but none allowed substitution 

where the need for it arose because of an unsuccessful litigation strategy.  For instance, the 

requested substitution from In re Northrop Grumman Corp. ERISA Litig. arose because the 

Plaintiff’s expert died.30   

                                                 
28 No. 3:13-cv-00537, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 79246 (D. Nev. June 18, 2015). 
29 Emphasis in original. 
30 No. CV 06-06213, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 185126, 2016 WL 6826171 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 7, 
2016) (“Here, it is undisputed that Plaintiffs could not have named Witz as their expert by the 
January 5, 2011 deadline because Kampner did not die until September 2011.”). 
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In Lincoln Nat'l Life Ins. Co. v. Transamerica Fin. Life Ins. Co., the defendant’s expert 

was convicted of embezzlement after being designated as an expert witness and being deposed.  

However, the defendant “only learned of Mr. Van Elsen’s legal troubles and eventual 

incarceration on June 24, 2010.”31  The problem was brought the court’s attention at a status 

check a month later and a substitute expert was permitted. 

 Lincoln Nat'l’s facts contrast starkly with the facts here.  Dr. Gross’ indictment was a 

matter of public record and publicized by prosecutors.  Plaintiff even filed a motion in limine to 

exclude reference to the indictment 15 months before a conviction occurred.  Clearly Plaintiff 

was aware of the indictment and took a calculated risk, unlike the defendant in Lincoln who 

learned of the risk only after the expert was convicted and sentencing occurred. 

In Stone Brewing Co., LLC v. MillerCoors LLC Stone asked to substitute one of its 

experts because the expert “was uncomfortable testifying in-person given the COVID-19 

pandemic, and that he was also unwilling to meet with counsel in-person to prepare for trial.”32  

Stone even confirmed the new expert “endorsed and accepted all of [the former expert’s] 

opinions….”  Given the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, the court granted the substitution.  This 

conclusion has no relevance to whether Plaintiff should be allowed to escape the result of his 

choice to use Dr. Gross despite knowledge of the pending indictment. 

 Rebel Communs., LLC v. Virgin Valley Water Dist. is also inapplicable.  There the 

plaintiff designated an expert witness and the defense asked to depose him.  “After attempting to 

contact Radtke, Rebel learned that Radtke was no longer employed by Spectrum, and that 

another employee … had been assigned to the matter.”33  The plaintiff then moved to substitute, 

which was allowed.  The circumstances that led to the substitution were beyond the plaintiff’s 

control, whereas here Plaintiff knew about Dr. Gross’ pending indictment and decided to accept 

that risk. 

 

                                                 
31 No. 1:04-cv-396, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 103744 (N.D. Ind. Sep. 30, 2010). 
32 No. 3:18-cv-331, 2021 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 66859, 2021 WL 1263836 (S.D. Cal. Apr. 5, 2021). 
33 No. 2:10-cv-513, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 123197, 2015 WL 5430297 (D. Nev. Sep. 12, 2015). 

App0189



 

10 
 
 
 
256296023v.1 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

III. Plaintiff rolled the dice and is stuck with Dr. Gross. 

Plaintiff freely chose his litigation strategy.  He was aware of the risk of hiring Dr. Gross 

and accepted that risk.  The risk did not work out as Plaintiff hoped, but that is not justification to 

re-open discovery and continue trial.  Plaintiff’s motion should be denied. 

Dated this 9th day of July, 2021. 

 
 
/s/ Michael P. Lowry    
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Irving Torremoro; Keolis Transit 
Services, LLC 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

Pursuant to NRCP 5, I certify that I am an employee of Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman 

& Dicker LLP, and that on July 9, 2021, I served Defendants’ Opposition to Motion to Substitute 

Jeffrey Gross as follows: 

 by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed 
envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada; 

 via electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system, upon 
each party in this case who is registered as an electronic case filing user with the 
Clerk;  

Stephen G. Clough, Esq. 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148  
Attorneys for Lamont Compton 
  

  
   
BY:  /s/ Amanda Hill  

An Employee of  
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE Thursday, June 14, 2018

U.S. Attorneys » Central District of California » News

Department of Justice

U.S. Attorney’s Office

Central District of California

Additional Doctors Charged in Massive Kickback Scheme 
Related to Spinal Surgeries at Long Beach Hospital Owned 

by Michael Drobot

SANTA ANA, California – Three additional doctors have been charged in three new cases 

for their roles in a 15-year-long health care fraud scheme that involved more than $40 million in 

illegal kickbacks paid to doctors and other medical professionals in exchange for referring 

thousands of patients who received spinal surgeries. As a result of the kickback scheme, more 

than $580 million in fraudulent bills were submitted, mostly to California’s worker compensation 

system.

          David Hobart Payne, 60, an orthopedic surgeon who lives in Irvine, is scheduled to be 

arraigned later today in United States District Court on charges of conspiracy, honest services 

fraud, and using an interstate facility to aid in unlawful activity. A five-count superseding 

indictment returned by a federal grand jury on April 25 alleges that Payne was bribed 

approximately $450,000 to steer more than $10 million in kickback-tainted surgeries to Pacific 

Hospital of Long Beach.

          Jeffrey David Gross, 52, an orthopedic surgeon who resides in Dana Point and Las Vegas, 

Nevada, appeared in federal court on Wednesday and pleaded not guilty to charges contained in 

a 14-count indictment returned earlier this year by a federal grand jury. Gross, who faces charges 

of conspiracy, honest services mail fraud and honest services wire fraud, was ordered to stand 

trial on August 7. The indictment alleges that Gross made at least $622,000 in exchange for 

performing and/or referring more than $19 million in kickback-tainted surgeries to Pacific Hospital.

          In the third indictment being announced today, Lokesh Tantuwaya, 51, who maintains 

residences in Rancho Santa Fe and Rock Springs, Wyoming, was charged in February by a 

federal grand jury. The 13-count indictment charges Tantuwaya with conspiracy, honest services 

fraud, and using an interstate facility to aid in unlawful activity. Tantuwaya, who pleaded not guilty 

Page 1 of 2Additional Doctors Charged in Massive Kickback Scheme Related to Spinal Surgeries at ...

7/8/2021https://www.justice.gov/usao-cdca/pr/additional-doctors-charged-massive-kickback-scheme...
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in April, has been ordered to stand trial on November 6. The indictment alleges that Tantuwaya 

received approximately $3.2 million in kickbacks for referring and/or performing $38 million in 

surgeries to Pacific Hospital.

          The kickback scheme centered on Pacific Hospital of Long Beach, which specialized in 

surgeries, especially spinal and orthopedic procedures. The owner of Pacific Hospital, Michael D. 

Drobot, conspired with doctors, chiropractors and marketers to pay kickbacks in return for the 

referral of thousands of patients to Pacific Hospital for spinal surgeries and other medical 

services paid for primarily through the California workers’ compensation system. During its final 

five years, the scheme resulted in the submission of over $500 million in fraudulent medical bills. 

To date, nine defendants have been convicted for participating in the kickback scheme.

          If they were to be convicted of the charges in the indictments announced today, Payne, 

Gross and Tantuwaya would face potential sentences of decades in federal prison.

An indictment contains allegations that a defendant has committed a crime. Every 

defendant is presumed to be innocent until and unless proven guilty in court.

          The investigation into the spinal surgery kickback scheme is being conducted by the 

Federal Bureau of Investigation; IRS Criminal Investigation; the California Department of 

Insurance; and the United States Postal Service, Office of Inspector General.

          This case is being prosecuted by Assistant United States Attorneys Joseph T. McNally and 

Scott D. Tenley of the Santa Ana Branch Office, and Assistant United States Attorney Ashwin 

Janakiram of the Major Frauds Section.

Component(s): 

USAO - California, Central

Contact: 

Thom 

Mrozek Spokesperson/Public Affairs Officer United States Attorney’s Office

Central District of California (Los Angeles) 213-894-6947

Press Release Number: 

18-098

Updated June 14, 2018

Page 2 of 2Additional Doctors Charged in Massive Kickback Scheme Related to Spinal Surgeries at ...

7/8/2021https://www.justice.gov/usao-cdca/pr/additional-doctors-charged-massive-kickback-scheme...
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FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE Friday, May 21, 2021

U.S. Attorneys » Central District of California » News

Department of Justice

U.S. Attorney’s Office

Central District of California

Surgeon Sentenced to 15 Months in Prison for Accepting 
Illicit Payments in Exchange for Referring Patients for 

Spinal Surgeries

SANTA ANA, California – An orthopedic surgeon was sentenced today to 15 months in 

federal prison for accepting nearly $623,000 in bribes and kickbacks in exchange for referring his 

patients to receive spinal surgeries at a corrupt Long Beach hospital.

          Dr. Jeffrey David Gross, 55, who resides in Dana Point and Las Vegas, was sentenced by 

United States District Judge Josephine L. Staton, who also ordered him to forfeit $622,936. Gross 

pleaded guilty in August 2020 to one felony count of conspiracy to commit honest services mail 

and wire fraud.

          The kickback scheme centered on Pacific Hospital in Long Beach, which specialized in 

surgeries, especially spinal and orthopedic procedures. The owner of Pacific Hospital, Michael D. 

Drobot, conspired with doctors, chiropractors and marketers to pay kickbacks in return for the 

referral of thousands of patients to Pacific Hospital for spinal surgeries and other medical 

services paid for primarily through the California workers’ compensation system.

          During its final five years, the scheme resulted in the submission of more than $500 million 

in fraudulent medical bills. To date, 15 defendants have been convicted for participating in the 

kickback scheme.

          From 2008 to 2013, Gross, a licensed neurosurgeon who operated Oasis Medical 

Providers Inc. in Laguna Niguel, agreed with Drobot to participate in a scheme to defraud patients 

of their right to honest services by accepting bribes and kickbacks that were paid to induce Gross 

to refer patients to Pacific Hospital for spinal surgeries and other medical services.

          In February 2008, Gross agreed with Drobot to sublease Oasis’s medical office space to a 

Pacific Hospital-affiliated company, Pacific Specialty Physician Management Inc. (PSPM), in 
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return for monthly payments of $15,000. In November 2008, Gross entered into an option 

contract with PSPM in which Oasis was paid $15,000 per month to purchase the accounts 

receivable and all other tangible assets of Oasis.

          For both the sublease and option agreements, Gross knew and understood that one 

purpose of the agreements was to induce him to bring certain spinal surgery patients to Pacific 

Hospital, though that information wasn’t specified on the lease agreement, nor did Gross disclose 

that information to his patients.

          PSPM paid Oasis $145,000 under the sublease agreement and $105,000 under the option 

agreement.

          In April 2009, Gross entered into an outsourced collections agreement with Pacific Hospital 

that called for him to assist with collections on some of the spinal surgery cases that he 

performed at that hospital in exchange for 15 percent of any amounts the hospital collected in 

relation to those surgeries. This agreement, later amended, called for Gross to be paid 10 

percent of the collected amount on other outpatient surgeries. During surgeries, if Gross used 

hardware from International Implants (I2), a Drobot-formed hardware distribution company, he 

was advanced $5,000 regardless of subsequent collections. Once again, Gross did not disclose 

this information to his patients. Pacific Hospital paid Oasis $372,936 under this agreement.

          In total, between April 2008 and May 2013, Drobot paid Gross $622,936 pursuant to these 

agreements. During the same period, Gross referred dozens of patients to Pacific Hospital for 

spinal surgeries based in part on payments made to him under those agreements.

          The FBI, IRS Criminal Investigation, California Department of Insurance, and the United 

States Postal Service Office of Inspector General investigated this matter.

          Assistant United States Attorneys Joseph T. McNally of the Violent and Organized Crime 

Section and Scott D. Tenley of the Santa Ana Branch Office prosecuted this case.

Topic(s): 

Health Care Fraud

Component(s): 

USAO - California, Central

Contact: 

Ciaran 

McEvoy Public Information Officer United States Attorney’s Office Central 

District of California (Los Angeles) ciaran.mcevoy@usdoj.gov (213) 

894-4465

Press Release Number: 

21-097

Updated May 21, 2021
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DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
LAMONT COMPTON, 
                             
                         Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES LLC,  
                             
                        Defendant. 

) 
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) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 

CASE#:  A-18-777320-C 
 
DEPT.  XXIV 

 
 
 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE ERIKA BALLOU, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

TUESDAY, JULY 13, 2021 

RECORDER’S TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING RE: MOTION TO 
SUBSTITUTE EXPERT DR. GROSS ON OST 

 

 

APPEARANCES:   

  For the Plaintiff:   STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
 
 
  For the Defendant:   MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
 
 
 
 
 
RECORDED BY:  SUSAN SCHOFIELD, COURT RECORDER 

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

Electronically Filed
9/9/2021 11:50 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Tuesday, July 13, 2021 

***** 

[Hearing began at 11:31 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  Page Number 8, Lamont Compton versus 

Keolis Transit Services, LLC, Case Number A-18-777320-C.  Who do I 

have? 

  MR. CLOUGH:  Good Morning, Your Honor.  Stephen Clough 

on behalf of the plaintiff. 

  THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Clough. 

  MR. LOWRY:  Michael Lowry on behalf of the defendant. 

  THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Lowry. 

  So this was on for the motion to substitute the expert.  I am 

inclined to grant that motion to substitute Dr. expert, or Dr. Gross.  I think 

that the substitution is substantially justified.  I understand that the 

opposition is permanent.  They knew that Dr. Gross was going to be 

criminally indicted but I still think that it’s justified. 

  So go ahead, Mr. Lowry. 

  MR. LOWRY:  Well, my question before I start rattling on, if I 

know more about why you believe it is substantially justified, that might 

help focus my argument and let the hearing resolve a little bit more 

quickly. 

  THE COURT:  I mean, they’ve got to have an expert, and the 

fact that theirs is unavailable, I think that it’s substantially justified to get 

another expert. 

  MR. LOWRY:  Understood.  Other than that, Judge, this is a 
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litigation strategy, and they think the litigation strategy that was 

ultimately unsuccessful, all of the justification that needs to be in the 

case law is all then because of factors that were beyond the parties’ 

control.   

  This was clearly within plaintiff’s control.  They don’t control 

whether he’s in jail or not, but they control whether they chose to get 

him.  They took a risk, didn’t work, and that’s the risk that they run. 

  So the justification whether he is in jail or he’s not in jail 

doesn’t recuse the litigation strategy that the plaintiff chose.  So it goes 

back further than that.  It goes way back to 2018.  It goes back to at least 

the summer of last year when we litigated the motion about whether the 

evidence in the indictment comes in.  The plaintiff chose at risk. 

  The fact that Dr. Gross lost in that risk and plaintiff lost that 

risk, and now Dr. Gross is going to be in jail, does not alleviate or 

substantially justify changing everything now.  And if that’s not 

persuasive, Judge, I don’t have much more to add to it, but that’s how 

we do this. 

  THE COURT:  Thank you, Mr. Lowry. 

  Mr. Clough. 

  MR. CLOUGH:  Yes, Your Honor, thank you.  Stephen Clough 

on behalf of the plaintiff. 

  All we basically had back in 2018, as Mr. Lowry referenced, 

was the random indictment, innocent until proven guilty.  Everything was 

sealed.  We didn’t know anything until April of 2021 when he allegedly – 

when Dr. Gross allegedly entered into some agreement to plead guilty to 
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something, and then he’s sentenced. 

  He’s now sentenced to 15 months, and he’s going to be 

unavailable for trial.  There’s no way plaintiff could have known that all of 

these sequences of events were going to happen from 2018 until now. 

  And it’s not a litigation strategy to hire an expert.  It’s a 

litigation strategy to hire an expert that is qualified in the area which we 

need an expert for.  Picking Dr. Gross is just happened to be who we’ve 

chosen for this.  He was a treating physician and we moved him over to 

an expert for the expert disclosures.  It was a logical choice, not a 

litigation strategy. 

  It also wasn’t a risk.  The risk is basically, he’s going to be 

found guilty even though he’s innocent until proven guilty.  He wasn’t 

found guilty, he pled and is now going to be unavailable for trial. 

  Plaintiff will have no experts testify to anything about his Delife 

airplane or any future treatment whatsoever if the Court doesn’t grant 

this motion.  

  He’s just simply unavailable, Your Honor, and I’ll rest on that.  

Thank you so much. 

  MR. LOWRY:  There’s a material misstatement in that.  

Plaintiff – we’ve just heard that plaintiff said “We didn’t know anything 

about this indictment until this conviction came down in April, 2021.” 

  That’s patently false.  The plaintiff in this motion filed a motion 

in limine 11 back on March 6th of 2020.  They knew about it then.  It was 

them who brought up the indictment to exclude it from trial.  They were 

patently aware of it. 
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  Furthermore, this is not like he was a random treating 

physician.  This is at least the second or third motion that this firm has 

had to file to get Dr. Gross off their cases.  This isn’t like it just happened 

to come together.  It was a litigation strategy in this case and multiple 

other ones.  And now that Dr. Gross has been convicted, now they’ve 

got to bail out their client.  And that’s not how this works.   

          If you have a client – if you have an expert who suddenly  

came together, if Dr. Gross had truly came to them in April and said, 

oops, I’ve been convicted, I plead guilty to this, then that’s a different 

circumstance, and maybe we should stipulate to amend or allow a 

substitution at that point.  But it is not what happened. 

 You have years of knowledge, years of knowledge.  And 

plaintiff, those strategies.  The strategy did not pan out.  You don’t 

continue a trial and reopen discovery because your litigation strategy 

didn’t work out. 

 That’s what happened in Clark v. Gold Coast.  Unpublished 

Supreme Court Orders are not binding but it is persuasive, and that’s 

where we’re at. 

 THE COURT:  So I’m still inclined to allow them to substitute 

another expert in place of Dr. Gross. 

 Here’s the issue.  I mean, if it was a sealed indictment, then 

they didn’t have any knowledge of what was in it or anything like that, 

and so they don’t know.  And if he’s, you know, as he stated, as Mr. 

Clough stated many times, you are innocent until you’re proven guilty, 

and so they didn’t have the knowledge until April of 2021. 
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 So I disagree fundamentally with what you’re saying, Mr. 

Lowry.  Mr. Clough, would you prepare an Order, run it by Mr. Lowry, 

and then submit it. 

 MR. CLOUGH:  Yes, Your Honor.  Thank you so much. 

 MR. LOWRY:  Judge, before we hang up, I have a 

housekeeping issue as a result of granting this motion.  I cannot imagine 

any scenario where we could possibly go to trial on September 7th.  

That’s the stack that we’re assigned to. 

 So would it make sense to continue this case, at least get it off 

the stack and clear the calendar call, and then when we do the order 

we’ll have to do a stipulation of some type that new discovery deadlines 

or something to that effect. 

 THE COURT:  Mr. Clough, what do you think? 

 MR. CLOUGH:  I actually agree with everything Mr. Lowry just 

said about this particular issue about trial.  We’re going to need time to 

disclose Dr. Leon’s report.  Defense might want to take his deposition.  

I’m not sure, and I don’t believe there’s any way we could be ready for 

trial in September. 

 THE COURT:  So I am currently setting trials out in 

September of 2022 because we’ve reopened some slots because of the 

backlog, but I had previously been doing 2023, so is September, 2022, 

something that you guys can work out then? 

 MR. CLOUGH:  Your Honor, Stephen Clough on behalf of the 

plaintiffs.  September, 2022, works for my firm. 

 MR. LOWRY:  Doesn’t sound like we have much choice given 
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the backlog.  So if we do that, yeah, we can – if you want to assign us to 

a new stack, we can include that in the order, and then hopefully work 

out some discovery dates and put them in there, and just wrap it up in 

one order instead of two or three. 

 THE COURT:  So we can put the new trial date in this order.  

If you guys have new discovery dates that are agreed upon, you can put 

them in the order as well.  If not, do you want to set a status check on 

these discovery dates, or do you want to just inform me if we need 

something. 

 MR. CLOUGH:  Your Honor, Stephen Clough on behalf of the 

plaintiff.  Our firm and Mr. Lowry’s firm get along very well.  I’m sure we 

can figure out some sort of discovery plan and not have to bother the 

Court with it. 

 MR. LOWRY:  I agree with Mr. Clough. 

 THE COURT:  Okay.  So, yeah, if you’ve got a discovery plan, 

put it in the order as well, Mr. Clough, but we will have the September 

trial date 2022, and we will vacate the September, 2021, trial date. 

 MR. LOWRY:  What is the 2022 date, and we’ll put that in the 

order. 

 THE CLERK:  Calendar call, August 30th, 2022, at 9:00 a.m.  

Jury Trial, September 6th, 2022, at 1:00 p.m. 

 THE COURT:  Thank you. 

    .  .  .  . 

    .  .  .  . 

    .  .  .  . 
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 MR. LOWRY:  Thank you, Judge. 

 MR. CLOUGH:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

 

 [Hearing concluded at 11:41 a.m.] 

* * * * * * 

 
 
 
ATTEST:  I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 
audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my 
ability. 

 

             
                              _________________________ 

                               SUSAN SCHOFIELD 
                                        Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: (702) 629-7900 
Facsimile: (702) 629-7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com  
 sgc@mgalaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
LAMONT COMPTON, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC; a foreign 
limited liability company; IRVING 
TORREMORO, an individual; DOES I through 
X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:   A-18-777320-C 
Dept. No.:  XXIV 
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 

 

TO: ALL PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL OF RECORD. 

YOU AND EACH OF YOU will please take notice that an ORDER GRANTING 

PLAINTIFF’S MOTION TO SUBSTITUTE PLAINTIFF’S EXPERT AND TREATING  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

Electronically Filed
7/19/2021 9:02 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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PHYSICIAN WITNESS JEFFREY GROSS, M.D. was hereby entered on the 16th day of July, 

2021.  A copy of which is attached hereto. 

 DATED this 19th day of July, 2021. 

 Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
 
_/s/ Stephen G. Clough__________________ 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, a copy of the NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 

was electronically filed on the 19th day of July, 2021, and served through the Notice of Electronic 

Filing automatically generated by the Court's facilities to those parties listed on the Court's Master 

Service List as follows: 

Michael P. Lowry, Esq. 
WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 

300 South Fourth Street, 11th Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Attorneys for Defendants Keolis Transit Services, LLC  
and Irving Torremoro 

 
 
 

  
 

 

 
 
 

/s/ Natalie Vazquez 
An Employee of MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
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ORDR 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: 702.629.7900 
Facsimile: 702.629.7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com   
 sgc@mgalaw.com   
  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Lamont Compton 
 
 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

 
LAMONT COMPTON, an individual, 
 
                                                 Plaintiff, 
vs. 
 
KEOLIS TRANSIT SERVICES, LLC; a foreign 
limited liability company; IRVING 
TORREMORO, an individual; DOES I through 
X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive, 
 

                                                  Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:   A-18-777320-C 
Dept. No.:  XXIV 
 
ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF’S 
MOTION TO SUBSTITUTE PLAINTIFF’S 
EXPERT AND TREATING PHYSICIAN 
WITNESS JEFFREY GROSS, M.D.,  
 
 

 
 This matter came before the Court on July 13, 2021, at 9:00 a.m., on Plaintiff’s motion to 

substitute Plaintiff’s expert and treating physician witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D., on an ex parte order 

shortening time.  Plaintiff was represented by Stephen G. Clough, Esq.  Defendants were represented 

by Michael P. Lowry, Esq. 

 The Court, having reviewed the pleadings and papers on file herein relative to the motion to 

substitute, having heard the arguments of counsel present at the hearing, and for good cause appearing, 

hereby finds the motion should be granted as follows:  (1) the request to substitute Dr. Jeffrey Gross 

is substantially justified; (2) the harm to Plaintiff is outweighed by any harm to Defendants; (3) 

Electronically Filed
07/16/2021 8:45 PM

Case Number: A-18-777320-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
7/16/2021 8:45 PM
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Plaintiff had no knowledge of the status of the criminal case as it was under seal until in or about April 

2021; (4) discovery shall be reopened for the limited purpose of replacing Dr. Gross only; and (5) no 

other discovery is permitted.     

 Accordingly: 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Plaintiff’s motion to substitute Plaintiff’s expert and treating 

physician witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D., is GRANTED. 

 

 
 

       _______________________________ 
        

 
Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
 
__/s/ Stephen G. Clough________________ 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
STEPHEN G. CLOUGH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10549 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiff  

Approved as to form and content: 
 
WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ EDELMAN & 
DICKER 
 
_/s/ Michael P. Lowry____________________ 
MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorneys for Defendants  
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-18-777320-CLamont Compton, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Keolis Transit Services LLC, 
Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 24

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 7/16/2021

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

Michael Lowry michael.lowry@wilsonelser.com

Efile LasVegas efilelasvegas@wilsonelser.com

Kait Chavez kait.chavez@wilsonelser.com

Amanda Hill amanda.hill@wilsonelser.com
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ORDR 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
JULIA M. CHUMBLER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 15025 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: (702) 629-7900 
Facsimile: (702) 629-7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com 
 jmc@mgalaw.com 
  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Nancy Notthoff 
 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
NANCY NOTTHOFF, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
NEVADA RESTAURANT SERVICES, INC., 
dba Dotty’s, a Nevada corporation; DOES I 
through X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:  A-18-783192-C 
Dept. No.:  XI 
 
ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO 
SUBSTITUTE PLAINTIFF’S EXPERT 
AND TREATING PHYSICIAN WITNESS 
JEFFREY GROSS, M.D., ON AN EX 
PARTE ORDER SHORTENING TIME 

 
 

 
 
 This matter came before the Court on June 10, 2021, at 9:00 a.m., on plaintiff’s motion to 

substitute plaintiff’s expert and treating physician witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D., on an ex parte order 

shortening time.  Plaintiff was represented by Jason R. Maier, Esq.  Defendant was represented by 

Cheryl H. Wilson, Esq. 

 The Court, having reviewed the pleadings and papers on file herein relative to the motion to 

substitute, having heard the arguments of counsel present at the hearing, and for good cause appearing, 

hereby finds the motion should be granted as follows:  (1) discovery shall be reopened for the limited 

purpose of replacing Dr. Gross only; (2) no other discovery is permitted; and (3) the issues 

surrounding Dr. Gross’ plea and/or conviction are only admissible at trial if Dr. Gross actually testifies 

Electronically Filed
06/15/2021 2:22 PM
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at trial.  A scheduling order pertaining to the substitute initial and rebuttal expert disclosures will be 

separately issued by the Court.   

 Accordingly: 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that plaintiff’s motion to substitute plaintiff’s expert and treating 

physician witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D., is GRANTED. 

 

 
 

       _______________________________ 

        

 

 

 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
/s/ Joseph A. Gutierrez 

__                                    __________ 

JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
JULIA M. CHUMBLER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 15025 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Nancy Notthoff 

Approved as to form and content: 
 
TYSON & MENDES LLP 
 
/s/ Cheryl H. Wilson 

_                                 ____________ 

THOMAS E. MCGRATH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 7086 
CHERYL H. WILSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 08312 
3960 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Attorneys for Defendant Nevada Restaurant 
Services, Inc. dba Dotty’s 
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-18-783192-CNancy Notthoff, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Nevada Restaurant Services Inc, 
Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 11

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 6/15/2021

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

Stefania Ross SRoss@TysonMendes.com

Thomas McGrath tmcgrath@tysonmendes.com

Scarlett Fisher sfisher@tysonmendes.com

Cheryl Wilson cwilson@tysonmendes.com

Tyson & Mendes tysonmendesLV@outlook.com
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

A-17-749640-C

Negligence - Auto June 21, 2021COURT MINUTES

A-17-749640-C Robert Whitstone, Plaintiff(s)
vs.
Helen Elizalde, Defendant(s)

June 21, 2021 09:00 AM Plaintiff's Motion to Substitute Plaintiff's Expert and Treating 
Physician Witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D. and to Continue Trial on 
OST

HEARD BY: 

COURT CLERK:

COURTROOM: Krall, Nadia

Jackson, Carolyn

RJC Courtroom 03C

JOURNAL ENTRIES

Court stated its inclination. Mr. Powell advised that he did not have an issue with the 
substitution of Dr. Garber; however, he was unsure about the logistics of whether Dr. Garber 
would provide Dr. Gross' opinions in their totality. Mr. Ranalli objected to allowing Dr. Garber 
to adopt the opinions of Dr. Gross.  Further, Mr. Ranalli argued that Dr. Gross was under 
federal felony indictment for the past three (3) years and Plaintiff had time to substitute another 
expert for Dr. Gross. Additional arguments by Mr. Ranalli of the prejudice caused to Defendant 
and requested a continuance to depose Dr. Garber and Ms. Elizalde. Colloquy regarding 
scheduling issues related to depositions of Dr. Garber and Defendant, jury selection, 
witnesses and trial.

COURT stated it FINDS, Dr. Garber was a rebuttal expert designated in 2018 and will be 
allowed to adopt Dr. Gross' opinions; he will not be allowed to deviate from Dr. Gross' 
opinions. Further, Court stated the Defendant will be allowed to depose Dr. Garber and take a 
preservation deposition of the Defendant and ORDERED, Motion GRANTED; Plaintiff will be 
allowed to substitute Dr. Garber for Dr. Gross; Trial dates STAND. COURT FURTHER 
ORDERED, jury instructions and verdict forms are to be submitted by end of day tomorrow. 
Mr. Powell to prepare and submit the Order.

PARTIES PRESENT:
Christopher Allen Elsee Attorney for Defendant

George  M. Ranalli Attorney for Defendant

Michael   A. Kristof Attorney for Plaintiff

Paul   D. Powell Attorney for Plaintiff

Thomas W, Stewart Attorney for Plaintiff

RECORDER: Kirkpatrick, Jessica

REPORTER:

Page 1 of 1Printed Date: 7/29/2021 June 21, 2021Minutes Date:

Prepared by: Carolyn Jackson
App0216
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ORDR 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
JULIA M. CHUMBLER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 15025 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: (702) 629-7900 
Facsimile: (702) 629-7925 
E-mail: jag@mgalaw.com 
 jmc@mgalaw.com  
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Marlene Dufresne 
 
 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
MARLENE DUFRESNE, an individual, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
DENISE THOMAS, an individual; DOES I 
through X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.: A-18-777627-C 
Dept. No.: V 
 
ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO 
SUBSTITUTE PLAINTIFF’S EXPERT 
AND TREATING PHYSICIAN WITNESS 
JEFFREY GROSS, M.D., ON AN EX 
PARTE ORDER SHORTENING TIME 

 
 

 
 This matter came before the Court on July 1, 2021, at 9:30 a.m., on Plaintiff’s motion to 

substitute Plaintiff’s expert and treating physician witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D., on an ex parte order 

shortening time.  Plaintiff was represented by Julia M. Chumbler, Esq.  Defendant was represented 

by Scott L. Rogers, Esq. 

 The Court, having reviewed the pleadings and papers on file herein relative to the motion, 

having heard the arguments of counsel present at the hearing and for good cause appearing, GRANTS 

Plaintiff’s motion and hereby finds the following: 

1. The standards set forth in NRCP 37(c)(1) and NRCP 16(b)(4) are applicable and have 

been met by Plaintiff.  NRCP 16(b)(4) allows the Court to modify a discovery scheduling order for 

good cause.  Here, good cause exists.  Dr. Gross’s actions were not associated with this case yet have 

Electronically Filed
07/22/2021 4:14 PM
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or will negatively affect Plaintiff, as Dr. Gross was convicted, and will be unavailable testify.  If Dr. 

Gross is able to testify, it will be prejudicial to Plaintiff if evidence regarding his conviction is admitted 

at trial, as the doctor was convicted of a crime of dishonesty.  If Plaintiff is not able to utilize an expert, 

her case will be greatly prejudiced.  NRCP 37(c)(1) allows for late supplements when it is substantially 

justified in the request to substitute the expert witness.  Plaintiff learned of the guilty plea in late April 

2021 and the sentencing in May 2021. The request is also harmless overall as Dr. Ray Leon will 

replace the testimony of Dr. Gross within the same scope, and Defendant shall be given the 

opportunity to depose and cross-examine Dr. Leon.  

2. Under EDCR 2.35(a), Plaintiff showed good cause for the extension under the Nutton 

factors:  

a. First, an explanation for the untimeliness was provided, as Plaintiff recently 

learned of the conviction and sentencing. 

b. Second, the importance of the requested action provided, as an expert is vital 

for Plaintiff’s case to be heard on the merits.  

c. Third, Defendant may incur additional litigation costs due to the new expert, 

but those costs are not deemed to be case ending prejudice that overrides the importance of deciding 

a case on its merits.  Plaintiff requires a replacement expert for the case to be heard on the merits. 

d. Fourth, the trial is set of October 2021, which gives some time, but not enough.  

Even with the courts beginning trials again, it is still possible that the case would be continued 

regardless, so this is not an overall factor.  

e. Fifth, Plaintiff was diligent in attempting to comply with the deadline, as has 

been discussed herein.  

 Therefore, good cause has been met for the extension. 

3. A showing of excusable neglect is also necessary since the motion was filed after the 

discovery deadline expired.  Plaintiff meets that standard as well.  Plaintiff did not cause Dr. Gross’ 

situation and only recently became aware of the conviction and sentencing.  

4. A future motion in limine will have to determine the issue of whether Dr. Gross’ 

conviction at trial will be admissible at trial, and such issue is not addressed herein. 
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5. The following are the parameters and dates for reopening discovery: 

a. Discovery shall be reopened for the limited purpose of replacing Dr. Gross only 

and no other discovery is permitted; 

b. Plaintiff shall disclose her substituted expert, Dr. Ray Leon, and his expert 

report, within forty-five (45) days by August 16, 2021; 

c. Defendant shall then have thirty (30) days to disclose a rebuttal report by 

September 15, 2021;  

d. Defendant shall then have thirty (30) days until October 15, 2021, to depose 

Dr. Leon.  Plaintiff shall be responsible for payment of Dr. Leon’s deposition fee for a maximum cost 

of two (2) hours for Defendant’s deposition of Dr. Leon.  

 Accordingly: 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that plaintiff’s motion to substitute plaintiff’s expert and treating 

physician witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D. is GRANTED, as stated herein. 

 
 

       _______________________________ 

        

 
Respectfully submitted, 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
 
/s/ Julia M. Chumbler 

__                                    __________ 

JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
JULIA M. CHUMBLER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 15025 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Marlene Dufresne 

Approved as to form and content: 
 
MESSNER REEVES LLP 
 
/s/ Scott L. Rogers 

_                                 ____________ 

M. CALEB MEYER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13379 
RENEE M. FINCH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13118 
SCOTT L. ROGERS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13574 
8945 West Russell Road, Suite 300 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Defendant 
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-18-777627-CMarlene Dufresne, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Denise Thomas, Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 5

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 7/22/2021

Renee Finch rfinch@messner.com

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

Caleb Meyer cmeyer@messner.com

Nuria Forsyth nforsyth@messner.com

Scott Rogers srogers@messner.com

Jackie Olivo jolivo@messner.com
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10801 W. Charleston Blvd. 

Suite 560 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 

ORDR 
DENNIS M. PRINCE 
Nevada Bar No. 5092 
ANGELA M. LEE 
Nevada Bar No. 14905 
PRINCE LAW GROUP 
10801 W. Charleston Boulevard, Suite 560 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 
Tel: (702) 534-7600 
Fax: (702) 534-7601 
Email: eservice@thedplg.com 
-And- 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV  89148  
jrm@mgalaw.com 
P. 702-629-7900 
F. 702-629-7925 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
ANGEL Y. PALACIOS-GARCIA, an 
individual; and ELIANY RODRIGUEZ, an 
individual, 
 

                                                Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

 
 
CYNTHIA BRACKETT, an individual; 
CENTRAL TELEPHONE COMPANY, a 
foreign corporation; DOES I through X; 
and ROE CORPORATIONS I through X, 
inclusive, 
 
                        Defendants. 

Case No.:  A-19-797658-C 
Dept. No.:  XIX 
 
 
 
ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFFS’ 
MOTION TO SUBSTITTUTE 
PLAINTIFFS’ EXPERT AND 
TREATING PHYSICIAN WITNESS 
DR. GROSS WITH DR. OLIVERI 
AND DR. DUNN ON ORDER 
SHORTENING TIME 

 
/// 
 

Electronically Filed
07/22/2021 3:11 PM
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10801 W. Charleston Blvd. 

Suite 560 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 

ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION TO SUBSTITTUTE 
PLAINTIFFS’ EXPERT AND TREATING PHYSICIAN WITNESS DR. GROSS 

WITH DR. OLIVERI AND DR. DUNN ON ORDER SHORTENING TIME 
 

Plaintiffs’ Motion to Substitute Plaintiffs’ Expert and Treating Physician Witness 

Dr. Gross with Dr. Oliveri and Dr. Dunn on Order Shortening Time having come on for 

hearing on the 15th day of June, 2021, before the Honorable Crystal Eller, with Dennis 

M Prince of the Prince Law Group appearing on behalf of Plaintiffs, and John W. Kirk 

of Ranalli, Zaniel, Fowler & Moran appearing on behalf of Defendants.  The Court 

having reviewed the pleadings and papers filed herein, having heard oral argument and 

being duly advised, in the premises, 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Plaintiffs’ Motion to Substitute Plaintiffs’ 

Expert and Treating Physician Witness Dr. Gross with Dr. Oliveri and Dr. Dunn on 

Order Shortening Time is GRANTED; 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendants’ request for Plaintiffs to be 

sanctioned is DENIED;  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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10801 W. Charleston Blvd. 

Suite 560 
Las Vegas, NV 89135 

A-19-797658-C / Palacios-Garcia v. Brackett, et al. 
Order Granting Motion to Substitute Plaintiffs’ Expert and Treating  
Physician Witness Dr. Gross with Dr. Oliveri and Dr. Dunn on OST 

 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiffs are responsible for the Defendants’ 

reasonable deposition fees and legal fees for the time spent to prepare and take the 

depositions of Dr. Oliveri and Dr. Dunn, as well as, the reasonable costs of any rebuttal 

expert review and response to Dr. Oliveri’s and/or Dr. Dunn’s reports to the extent that 

such rebuttals were already done with Dr. Gross. However, if the rebuttal experts go 

beyond the work already performed with regard to Dr. Gross and do additional work, 

Plaintiff is not responsible for those fees and costs. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this ____ day of July, 2021. 

 

      ____________________________ 
      DISTRICT COURT JUDGE   

 
Respectfully Submitted,    Approved as to Form and Content: 
 
PRINCE LAW GROUP    RANALLI ZANIEL FOWLER  
       & MORAN 
 

/s/ Dennis M. Prince         
_____________________________   __________________________________ 
DENNIS M. PRINCE    GEORGE M. RANALLI 
Nevada Bar No. 5092    Nevada Bar No. 5748 
ANGELA M. LEE     JOHN W. KIRK 
Nevada Bar No. 14905    Nevada Bar No. 4654 
10801 W. Charleston Boulevard   2400 W. Horizon Ridge Parkway 
Suite 560                 Henderson, NV 89052 
Las Vegas, NV 89135    Attorneys for Defendants 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-19-797658-CAngel Palacios-Garcia, 
Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Cynthia Brackett, Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 19

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 7/22/2021

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

Eservice Filing eservice@thedplg.com

George Ranalli Ranalliservice@ranallilawyers.com

Corrine Murphy cmurphy@thedplg.com

Angela Lee alee@thedplg.com

Claudia Corral ccorral@thedplg.com

If indicated below, a copy of the above mentioned filings were also served by mail 
via United States Postal Service, postage prepaid, to the parties listed below at their last 
known addresses on 7/23/2021

Joseph Gutierrez Maier Gutierrez & Associates
Attn:  Joseph A. Gutierrez
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue
Las Vegas, NV, 89148
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A-17-751692-C 

PRINT DATE: 09/03/2021 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: August 10, 2021 

 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
Negligence - Auto COURT MINUTES August 10, 2021 

 
A-17-751692-C Latasha Padilla, Plaintiff(s) 

vs. 
Kenneth Shoals, Defendant(s) 

 
August 10, 2021 9:00 AM Motion to Substitute Plaintiffs Expert and Treating 

Physician Witness Jeffrey Gross MD on an Order 
Shortening Time 

 
HEARD BY: Delaney, Kathleen E.  COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 15B 
 
COURT CLERK: April Watkins 
 
REPORTER: Bill Nelson 
 
PARTIES  
PRESENT: 

 
Saldanha, Ryan S. Attorney for Deft. 
Stewart, Thomas W, Attorney for Pltf. 

 

 
JOURNAL ENTRIES 

 
- Following arguments by counsel, Court stated findings and ORDERED, motion GRANTED.  The 
Court will also grant relief to Deft. as well.  There are hard costs in terms of rebuttal expert and 
additional discovery not completed.  Costs will be awarded under NRCP 37 and rebuttal expert will 
be allowed.  Mr. Stewart inquired as to what costs the Court is allowing.  Court stated they are 
inclusive of rebuttal expert and Pltf. has some responsibility they have to bear here.  Mr. Stewart to 
prepare order, Mr. Saldana to review and submit within 14 days. 
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ORDR 
DENNIS M. PRINCE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 5092 
KEVIN T. STRONG, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12107 
PRINCE LAW GROUP 
10801 West Charleston Blvd., Suite 560 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Telephone: 702.534.7600 
Facsimile: 702.534.7601 
E-mail: eservice@thedplg.com 
 
JASON R. MAIER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8557 
JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9046 
DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 13822 
MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Telephone: 702.629.7900 
Facsimile: 702.629.7925 
E-mail: jrm@mgalaw.com 
 jag@mgalaw.com 
 djb@mgalaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Marc Kevin Brown 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
MARC KEVIN BROWN, an individual, 

 
Plaintiff, 

vs. 
 
KENNETH DONALD PAUL, JR, an individual; 
STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE 
INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation; 
DOES I through X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I 
through X, inclusive, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 
Case No.:   A-18-778885-C 
Dept. No.:  XIV  
 
ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO 
SUBSTITUTE PLAINTIFF’S EXPERT 
AND TREATING PHYSICIAN WITNESS 
JEFFREY GROSS, M.D. 

 
 
 This matter came on for a hearing before the Court on August 24, 2021, at 10:00 a.m., on 

plaintiff’s motion to substitute plaintiff’s expert and treating physician witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D.  

Dennis M. Prince, Esq., and Jason R. Maier, Esq., appeared on behalf of plaintiff Marc Kevin Brown.  

Electronically Filed
09/07/2021 4:19 PM
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John W. Kirk, Esq., and Erin L. Plunkett, Esq., appeared on behalf of defendant Kenneth Donald Paul.  

Kristopher T. Zeppenfeld, Esq., appeared on behalf of defendant State Farm.  The Court, having 

reviewed the papers and pleadings on file herein, having heard the arguments of counsel, and for good 

cause appearing, hereby orders as follows: 

 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that plaintiff’s motion to substitute is GRANTED; 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Court will allow substitution with Dr. Oliveri so long as 

plaintiff’s life care plan is not greater than the original life care plan prepared by Dr. Gross; and 

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that plaintiff shall incur any duplicative costs related to the 

substitution of experts.   

 
 

      
      

 
 
 

Respectfully submitted,    Approved of as to form and content, 

DATED this 7th day of September, 2021.  

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 

  DATED this 7th day of September, 2021.  

KRAVITZ, SCHNITZER & JOHNSON, CHTD. 

 
/s/ Jason R. Maier 

  
/s/ Kristopher T. Zeppenfeld 

JASON R. MAIER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8557 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Marc Kevin Brown 

 KRISTOPHER T. ZEPPENFELD, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 12144 
8985 S. Eastern Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89123 

 Attorneys for Defendant State Farm Mutual 
Automobile Insurance Company 

 
 

  DATED this 7th day of September, 2021.  

RANALLI ZANIEL FOWLER & MORAN, LLC 
 
 
 /s/ Erin L. Plunkett 

  ERIN L. PLUNKETT, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11442 
2400 W. Horizon Ridge Parkway 
Henderson, Nevada 89052 
Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth Donald 
Paul, Jr.
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CSERV

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-18-778885-CMarc Brown, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Kenneth Paul, Jr., Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 14

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all 
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 9/7/2021

Bradley Johnson, Esq. bjohnson@ksjattorneys.com

Kristopher Zeppenfeld, Esq. kzeppenfeld@ksjattorneys.com

Jill Berghammer jberghammer@ksjattorneys.com

Meranda Espinosa mespinosa@ksjattorneys.com

MGA Docketing docket@mgalaw.com

George Ranalli ranalliservice@ranallilawyers.com

Lisa Lee llee@thedplg.com

Eservice Filing eservice@thedplg.com

Natalie Vasquez ndv@mgalaw.com

Tracey Heinhold Keith tracey.heinhold@gmail.com

Nicole Littlejohn nlittlejohn@thedplg.com
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ORDR 
EBAN M. MILMEISTER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11844 
THORNDAL, ARMSTRONG, DELK, 
BALKENBUSH & EISINGER 
1100 E. Bridger Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Phone: (702) 366-0622 
Fax: (702) 366-0327 
emm@thorndal.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Ibolya Soltesz 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

MARTIN MCCABE, an individual, 
 
 Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
IBOLYA SOLTESZ, an individual; DOES I 
through X; and ROE CORPORATIONS I through 
X, inclusive, 
 
  Defendant. 
 

 
CASE NO. A-16-747437-C 
DEPT. NO.  21 

Date of Hearing: September 1, 2021 

Time of Hearing: 1:30 p.m. 

 
 

 
ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF MARTIN MCCABE’S MOTION TO SUBSTITUTE 

PLAINTIFF’S EXPERT AND TREATING PHYSICIAN WITNESS JEFFREY GROSS, 
M.D.  

 

Martin McCabe’s Motion to Motion To Substitute Plaintiff’s Expert And Treating 

Physician Witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D., and Defendant’s Motion In Limine To Admit 

Evidence Of The Felony Conviction Of Plaintiff’s Expert Jeffrey D. Gross, M.D. for 

truthfulness and purposes of impeachment, having come on regularly for hearing on 

September 1, 2021 in Department 21, the Honorable Tara Clark Newberry presiding, 

the Plaintiff being represented by Stephen Clough, Esq., and Defendant Ibolya Soltesz 

being represented by Eban M. Milmeister, Esq., and the Court having considered all the 

pleadings, and good cause appearing therefore, 

Electronically Filed
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 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Martin McCabe’s 

Motion To Substitute Plaintiff’s Expert And Treating Physician Witness Jeffrey Gross, 

M.D is hereby GRANTED, subject to the following conditions: 

 1. The parties shall split the cost for Defendant to depose Plaintiff’s new expert, 

Dr. Raimundo Leon.   

 2. Dr. Leon shall not exceed the scope of Dr. Gross’s opinions, such that he will 

not comment upon other body parts, will not provide substantially new or unrelated 

testimony or opinions, and will not increase Plaintiff’s damages. The scope of Dr. Leon’s 

opinions shall be confined to the same scope for which Dr. Gross was originally 

retained. 

 3. Discovery shall be reopened for the limited purpose of Dr. Leon providing an 

expert report and for Defendant to have an opportunity for a rebuttal report to Dr. Leon’s 

forthcoming report.  Defendant shall have an opportunity to depose Dr. Leon and 

Plaintiff shall have the opportunity to depose Defendant’s rebuttal expert.  

 4. Discovery shall now close on January 17, 2022. The court recognizes that 

expert depositions can be difficult to schedule during the upcoming holiday season. The 

court also takes into account it may be difficult for counsel to obtain a rebuttal report 

during the upcoming holiday season. Should counsel encounter delays with scheduling 

Dr. Leon’s deposition, or obtaining additional discovery deemed necessary by counsel, 

the court will entertain another extension of discovery and continuance of the trial, which 

is currently set for April 18, 2022. The status check on trial readiness on February 16, 

2022 shall remain on calendar.  

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Defendant’s 

Motion In Limine To Admit Evidence Of The Felony Conviction Of Plaintiff’s Expert 

Jeffrey D. Gross, M.D. shall be taken off calendar and heard or decided at this time. 

Instead, the parties remain free to conduct additional discovery as set forth in this order 

and then re-file her motion concerning Dr. Gross after discovery deemed necessary has 

been completed.  
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A-16-747437-C 
McCabe v. Soltesz 

 
DATED this _____ day of September, 2021 
 

 
     __________________________________________ 
      
 
 
 

Submitted by: 

       
THORNDAL ARMSTRONG DELK 
BALKENBUSH & EISINGER 
 
 /s/ Eban M. Milmeister 
By:         
EBAN M. MILMEISTER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11844 
1100 East Bridger Avenue 
Las Vegas, Nevada  89101 
Attorneys for Defendant 
 
 
Approved as to form and content: 

MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES 

 

 /s/ Stephen Clough 

By: __________________________________     
Joseph A. Gutierrez, Esq.  
Stephen G. Clough, Esq. 
8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV 89148 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-16-747437-CMartin McCabe, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Ibolya Soltesz, Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 21

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order Granting Motion was served via the court’s electronic eFile 
system to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 9/10/2021

Charity Johnson . cmj@mgalaw.com

Danielle Barraza . djb@mgalaw.com

Jason Maier . jrm@mgalaw.com

Joseph Gutierrez . jag@mgalaw.com

Josh Kunis . jak@mgalaw.com

Marianne Sylva . msylva@pattonkiraly.com

Michele A. Kiraly . mkiraly@pattonkiraly.com

Natalie D. Vazquez . ndv@mgalaw.com

Stephen G. Clough . sgc@mgalaw.com

Gregory Schulman gms@thorndal.com

Master Calendar calendar@thorndal.com
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Michele Kiraly mkiraly@pattonkiraly.com

Bonnie Hastings bjh@thorndal.com

Patti Pinotti plp@thorndal.com

Eban Milmeister emm@thorndal.com

Kara Farris khf@thorndal.com
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DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

 

Negligence - Auto COURT MINUTES September 23, 2021 

 
A-19-799403-C Kimberly Diemert, Plaintiff(s) 

vs. 
Ryan Herron, Defendant(s) 

 
September 23, 2021 3:00 AM Minute Order  
 
HEARD BY: Wiese, Jerry A.  COURTROOM: Chambers 
 
COURT CLERK: Lauren Kidd 
 
RECORDER:  
 
REPORTER:  
 
PARTIES  
PRESENT: 

 

 
JOURNAL ENTRIES 

 
- The above-referenced matter is scheduled for a hearing on 9/29/21 with regard to Plaintiff's Motion 
to Substitute Plaintiff s Expert and Treating Physician Witness Jeffrey Gross, MD.    Pursuant to the 
Administrative Orders of the Court, as well as EDCR 2.23, this matter may be decided with or 
without oral argument.  This Court has determined that it would be appropriate to decide this matter 
on the pleadings, and consequently, this minute order issues. 
                This is a personal injury action for alleged injuries suffered by Plaintiff Kimberly Diemert as 
a result of a motor vehicle accident with Defendant Ryan Patrick Herron, which occurred on April 16, 
2019. Plaintiff filed a complaint in this matter on July 30, 2019 and Defendant filed his Answer on 
September 10, 2019. 
                Plaintiff s counsel states that on or about April 21, 2021, he learned that Dr. Gross, plaintiff's 
treating physician and retained medical expert witness, pled guilty to conspiracy to commit honest 
services mail and wire fraud in California. Dr. Gross' conviction was originally sealed from the public 
and was not unsealed and made public until  about April 2021. On May 20, 2021, the Court informed 
Counsel via the Scheduling Order and Order Setting Civil Jury Trial, Pre-Trial/Calendar Call that the 
trial was set to begin on March 14, 2022. 
                On May 21, 2021, Dr. Gross was sentenced to 15 months in prison. Counsel learned of Dr. 
Gross s prison sentence on May 24, 2021, which was coincidentally the day discovery closed.  
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                Counsel states that on August 3, 2021, his office submitted the present motion and 
[proposed] order shortening time.  After a procedural run-around by the Court, the motion was 
refiled on August 25, 2021.  Defendant Ryan Patrick Herron filed an Opposition on September 9, 
2021.  
                Plaintiff Kimberly Diemert moves to substitute her designated rebuttal expert, Dr. Jeffery 
Gross, with a new neurosurgical expert, or, alternatively, to allow her treating physician and 
designated rebuttal expert, Dr. Jason Garber, to adopt Gross s rebuttal expert report and opinions. 
Although his guilty plea and the underlying facts have absolutely no bearing on, or relationship to, 
this matter whatsoever, Plaintiff will be greatly prejudiced if she is unable to substitute Dr. Gross.  
                Plaintiff argues that Dr. Gross was Plaintiff s designated initial expert witness who provided 
a neurosurgical second opinion consultation and opined on Plaintiff's injuries as well as the cost of 
Plaintiff's future medical treatment. Plaintiff will be severely prejudiced if Defendant is permitted to 
introduce evidence of Dr. Gross's misconduct and criminal guilty plea at trial. As Dr. Gross was 
convicted of a felony crime of dishonesty, this evidence may be admissible, pursuant to NRS 50.095. 
Replacing Dr. Gross with Dr. Garber is permissible under both NRCP 37(c)(1)'s "substantially 
justified or harmless" standard, and NRCP 16(b)(4)'s "good cause" standard. See, e.g., In re Northrop 
Grumman Corp. ERISA Litig., 2016 WL 6826171, at *2 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 7, 2016).  
                Plaintiff argues that the substitution of Dr. Gross is substantially justified in that Plaintiff"s 
counsel learned of the sentence only weeks before trial; and the substitution will be harmless because 
the new expert will opine on the same subject matter and Defense counsel will be given an 
opportunity to depose the new expert if necessary. Further, good cause exists to substitute Dr. Gross 
and continue trial because the substitution and continuance will allow this case to be heard on its 
merits, which is the Court's strong preference. See, e.g., Huckabay Props. v. NC Auto Parts, 130 Nev. 
196, 198, 322 P.3d 429, 430 (2014) (courts maintain a "[s]ound policy preference for deciding cases on 
the merits."). 
                Plaintiff cites to an unpublished, Northern District of Indiana case to support her argument 
that good cause to substituting an expert because the expert would be incarcerated and unavailable at 
trial.  Lincoln Nat'l Life Ins. Co. v. Transamerica Fin. Life Ins. Co., 2010 WL 3892860 at *5 (N.D. Ind. 
Sep. 30, 2010). Additionally, Plaintiff cites to an unpublished, Southern District of California case, 
Stone Brewing Co., LLC v. Miller Coors LLC, 2021 WL 1263836 (S.D. Cal. Apr 5, 2021). In Stone 
Brewing, the court explained that courts use Rule 16(b) s "good cause" standard when a party moves 
to designate a new expert after the deadline has passed. Stone Brewing Co., LLC v. MillerCoors LLC, 
2021 WL 1263836, at *4 (S.D. Cal. Apr. 5, 2021).  Plaintiff argues that she is diligently moving to 
substitute a new neurosurgical expert for Dr. Gross. Once Plaintiff learned that Dr. Gross pled guilty 
in late April 2021 and after learning that Dr. Gross was sentenced to 15 months in prison on May 21, 
2021, Plaintiff promptly requested substitution from this Court. 
                In Opposition, Defendant states that at the pretrial conference on July 7, 2021, Plaintiff's 
counsel, Paul Powell, Esq., represented that his client was scheduled for an, allegedly, accident 
related spinal surgery in early August 2021. The Court took that into consideration and continued the 
trial date to January 3, 2022 on a five (5) week stack. Further, Defendant notes that Dr. Gross was not 
identified until April 14, 2021, when he was identified as a rebuttal expert wherein he provides a 
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"Neurosurgical Second Opinion." Treating neurosurgeon, Jason Garber, M.D., issued the initial 
surgical opinion and practically every medical opinion stated in his report is cumulative to the 
opinions of Dr. Oliveri and Dr. Garber. He was identified as a rebuttal expert to Dr. Forage, but his 
report goes well beyond rebuttal. 
                Additionally, Defendant notes that on June 14, 2018, the Central District of California 
Department of Justice reported that Dr. Gross had been indicted by the federal government in a 
"massive kickback scheme related to spinal surgeries." Therefore the indictment was not "secret" and 
it has been public knowledge for years that Dr. Gross was under indictment for misconduct related to 
his surgical practice. Defendant argues that Plaintiff's counsel clearly knew this at the time they 
retained Dr. Gross as a rebuttal expert in April 2021. Under these circumstances, Plaintiff should not 
get any relief - they should have to rely on the comprehensive slate of experts they already identified. 
They would not be entitled to cumulative expert testimony in any event, and that is really all that Dr. 
Gross' report actually amounts to in this case. If Dr. Gross is withdrawn as an expert, no doctor or 
new expert should be allowed to refer to or utilize his opinions. That would just add another 
cumulative layer to Plaintiff's presentation in this case. 
                Defendant argues that all Plaintiff would possibly be entitled to, is a new rebuttal expert to 
rebut Dr. Forage's opinions. The defense is greatly concerned about the possibility of 'trial by 
ambush,' whether intended or not. To date, defense counsel states he has not received any additional 
records or bills related to the August 2021 surgery and has no supplemental expert reports. Further, 
once counsel obtains new records from the surgery, defense experts will need to review them. Given 
the potential need to re-depose Plaintiff on her post-surgical condition or require a supplemental IME 
depending on her claims, and with COVID concerns, the impending holiday season, and extremely 
short time frames, Defendant will not be able to prepare appropriately for trial in January 2022. 
Irrespective of whether the Court allows Plaintiff time to identity a different rebuttal expert to rebut 
Dr. Forage, Defendant argues that trial will probably need to be continued and a new discovery plan 
to deal with this new information be set forth. 
                Finally, Based on the foregoing, Defendant asks that Plaintiff s Motion to Substitute 
Plaintiffs Expert and Treating Physician Witness Jeffrey Gross, M.D. be denied, that our January 3, 
2022 trial be continued and that discovery be reopened, to a limited extent, to address these new 
matters. 
                In Reply, Plaintiff states that Defendant s Opposition is baseless. Further, because Plaintiff 
underwent total disc replacement at C4-C5, C5-C6, and C6-C7 on August 5, 2021, Plaintiff agrees that 
trial should be continued and discovery be reopened.  
                This Court finds and concludes that there is good cause to substitute Dr. Gross with a 
different expert, and consequently, the Plaintiff s Motion has merit.  It would not be fair to allow the 
Plaintiff to retain a new expert now, with new never-before-stated opinions.  It would also be 
unreasonable to expect that a different expert would have the exact same opinions as Dr. Gross.  
Consequently, the Court will allow the Plaintiff to retain a new expert, or use Dr. Garber to replace 
Dr. Gross, as long as the opinions of such experts do not go "beyond" what Dr. Gross s opinions were.  
Defense counsel will be given the opportunity to depose and do additional discovery if necessary 
relating to this substitution.  The Court takes no position at this time, and makes no ruling regarding 
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the Defendant's argument that Dr. Gross' opinions are "cumulative."  Such argument needs to be 
raised in a separate pleading, if the substituted expert offers what Defendant believes to be 
cumulative and objectionable opinions. 
                Both parties have agreed that a continuance of the Trial date and Discovery Deadline will be 
necessary.  Consequently, an Amended Scheduling Order will issue, the 1/3/22 Trial date will be 
vacated, and a new Trial Order will issue.   
                Based upon the foregoing, and good cause appearing, 
                IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Plaintiff s Motion to Substitute Plaintiff's Expert and 
Treating Physician Jeffrey Gross, M.D., is hereby GRANTED, to the extent set forth above. 
                The Trial date of 1/3/22, PreTrial Conference Date of 12/6/21, and Calendar Call date of 
12/27/21, are hereby VACATED.  A new Scheduling Order and a new Trial Order will issue. 
                The Court requests that Plaintiff's counsel prepare an Order consistent with the foregoing, 
have it approved as to form and content by opposing counsel, and submit it to the Court for 
signature within 10 days. 
                Because this matter has been decided on the pleadings, the hearing scheduled for 9/29/21 
will be taken off calendar, and consequently, there is no need for any parties or attorneys to appear. 
 
CLERK'S NOTE:  A copy of the above minute order was distributed to all parties 09-23-21.//lk 
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MICHAEL P. LOWRY, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
E-mail: Michael.Lowry@wilsonelser.com 
6689 Las Vegas Blvd. South, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Attorneys for Symeon Bibiano; Brightview Landscape 
Services, Inc. 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

On August 19, 2021 the court heard two motions.  One was Defendants’ motion to 

continue trial, the other was Plaintiff’s motion to substitute one of his retained expert witnesses.  

Tom Stewart attended the hearing for Plaintiff, Michael Lowry attended for Defendants. 

Both motions are granted.  The court is not inclined to punish Plaintiff for Dr. Gross’ 

conviction, so good cause to allow the substitution is present.  This in turn supports Defendants’ 

motion to continue trial.  Trial is continued to the dates previously stated at the hearing. 

   Howard Basch, individually,  

Plaintiff,  

vs.  

Symeon Reyes Bibiano, individually; Brightview 
Landscape Services, Inc., a domestic corporation; 
Does I-X, and Roe Corporations, Inc.,  

Defendants. 

 Case No.: A-20-809164-C 
Dept. No.: 29 
 
 
Order re 2 Motions  
 

   

THE PAUL POWELL LAW FIRM 
 
 
 
/s/  Tom Stewart   
TOM W. STEWART 
Nevada Bar No. 14280 
Attorneys for Howard Basch 

WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ 
EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 
 
 
/s/ Michael Lowry  
MICHAEL P. LOWRY 
Nevada Bar No. 10666 
Attorneys for Symeon Reyes Bibiano and 
Brightview Landscape Services, Inc. 
 

 It is so ordered. 
 
 
                                     
DISTRICT JUDGE 

Electronically Filed
10/05/2021 2:46 PM

Case Number: A-20-809164-C

ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
10/5/2021 2:46 PM
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: A-20-809164-CHoward Basch, Plaintiff(s)

vs.

Symeon Bibiano, Defendant(s)

DEPT. NO.  Department 29

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Order Granting Motion was served via the court’s electronic eFile 
system to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 10/5/2021

Michael Lowry michael.lowry@wilsonelser.com

Dana Marcolongo dana@tplf.com

Efile LasVegas efilelasvegas@wilsonelser.com

Jonathan Pattillo jonathan.pattillo@wilsonelser.com

Amanda Hill amanda.hill@wilsonelser.com

Tom Stewart tstewart@tplf.com

Drea Braham dbraham@tplf.com

Michelle Temoche mtemoche@tplf.com

Jared Powell jared@tplf.com

Paul Powell paul@tplf.com

Ryan O'Malley romalley@tplf.com
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Kelli Wightman kwightman@tplf.com

Tiffany Wong twong@tplf.com

Connor Pori cpori@tplf.com

Kait Natarajan kait.natarajan@wilsonelser.com
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